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KEY INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT

a) Background information
Machakos University is a premier University whose core mandate is to teach, train, conduct

research, innovate, offer community service, generate new knowledge and facilitate
technological transfer. Being the only public University in Machakos County, the University
plays a leading role in providing scholarly education through training, research and innovation

for industrial and socio-econoniic transformation for the community and the Country at large.

Machakos University as an institution was founded in 1957 as a Technical Rural Training
School. It became Machakos Technical and Trade School in 1958 and Machakos Technical
School in 1967. Later in 1987, it was converted to a Technical Training Institute, known as
Machakos Technical Training Institute (MTTI). By a Legal Notice No.130 of 16t September
2011, the Institute became Machakos University College, a constituent college of Kenyatta
University. On 7t October, 2016, Machakos University College was chartered and became a
full-fledged public University by H.E Uhuru Muigai Kenyatta, the President and Commander
in Chief of the Kenya Defense Forces of the Republic of Kenya. Machakos University has
therefore, a Technical background and has a niche towards Engineering, Technology and
Business. The University has been able to attract, develop and retain highly trained, motivated
and experienced academic and administrative staff who continue to support the wide range of
courses offered in its schools. The University is currently offering thirty-six (36) undergraduate

programmes and thirty-four (34) post graduate programmes in the following ten (10) schools;

1) School of Agricultural Sciences
i) Department of Agricultural Education and Extension
1))  Department of Agribusiness
2) School of Environment and Nafural Resource Management
1) Department of Environmental Sciences
3) School of Education
i) Department of Educational Management and Curriculum studies
i) Department of Educational Communication and Technology.
iii)  Department of Educational Psychology, Early Childhood and Special Needs

Education.

Vi
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KEY INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4) School of Business and Economics
i) Department of Business Administration
ii)  Department of Economics
iii)  Department of Accounting, Banking and Finance
5) School of Health Sciences
1) Department of Public and Community Health
6) School of Humanities and Social Sciences
i) Department of Linguistics and Languages.
ii)  Department of Social Sciences.
iii)  Department of Fashion Design and Marketing
7) School of Hospitality and Tourism Management
i) Department of Tourism Management
8) School of Engineering and Technology
i) Department of Mechanical and Manufacturing Engineering
ii)  Department of Electrical and Electronics Engineering
iii)  Department of Building and Civil Engineering
iv)  Department of Computing and Information Technology.
9) School of Pure and Applied Sciences
i) Department of Mathematics, Statistics and Actuarial Science
i) Department of Physical Sciences
iii)  Department of Biological Sciences

10) Graduate School

The University is located at the heart of the Lower Eastern Region, and a kilometre away from
Machakos town centre along Machakos/Wote Road. It is about 66 km from Nairobi and 28

km from Konza Technopolis.

Machakos University has three divisions; namely, Academic and Student affairs,
Administration, Planning and Finance and, Research, Innovation and Linkages. The University
has grown in terms of staff and student numbers, linkages and partnerships with public,

private, national and global organizations.

vii
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KEY INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The University has held five (5) graduation ceremonies after being chartered and boasts of
6,027 graduates. The Institution has also held three (3) international conferences bringing
together researchers from all over the world, a feat which has enriched research in the region.
[t has continued participating in extra-curriculum activities like games and music which have
been instrumental in enhancing talent development. Lately, the University, in a partnership
with students, managed to develop, pilot and implement an innovation on e- voting which has
been facilitating smooth running of student elections. The University is certified under the ISO
9001:2015 which has seen it maintain and continually improve its quality services and

customer satisfaction.

The University’s stakeholders include: Students, staff, Alumni, Parents/guardians, Sponsors,
Regulatory Bodies, Ministry of Education, Primary and Secondary Schools, Other Ministries,
Departments and Government Agencies, County Governments, Local community, Other
institutions of higher learning both local and international, Suppliers/contractors, Non-
governmental Organizations , Community Based Organizations, International Organizations,
Industries, Religious Organizations, Trade Unions and the public in general.

b) Principal Activities

The principal activities of Machakos University are Teaching/Training, Research, Innovation,
and community service

Vision
A preferred University of Excellence in Scholarship and Service Delivery
Mision

To Provide scholarly education through Training, Research and Innovation for Industrial and
socio-economic transformation of our communities

Mandate

The core mandate of Machakos University is to Teach, Train, Conduct Research, Innovate, and
Collaborate, Generate New Knowledge and Provide Community Service

viil
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KEY INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Philosophy

The Philosophy of Machakos University is to provide trans-formative leadership in Teaching,
Training, Research, Innovation, Industrial and Technology transfer for wealth creation

Core values
e Integrity
e Accountability
e Professionalism
e Inclusivity
e Creativity
e Teamwork
e Equity

c) Key Management

The Execution of the University’s mandate is spearheaded by the following:

(a) The Chancellor

(b) University Council

(c) The Vice Chancellor

(d) University Management Board
(e) University Senate

d) Fiduciary Management

The key management personnel who held office during the financial year ended 30" June,

2021 and who had direct fiduciary responsibility were:

Designation Name
(a) Vice Chancellor Prof. Lucy W. Irungu
(b) DVC (Administration, Planning & Finance) Prof. (Eng.) Douglas Shitanda
(c) DVC (Academic & Student Affairs) Prof. Joyce Agalo
(d) DVC (Research, Innovation & Linkages) Prof. Peter N. Mwita
(e) Chief Finance Officer CPA Aileen Nyatuga
(f) Ag. Chief Procurement Officer Ms. Alice Njeri
(2) Chief Internal Auditor CPA John Ngure

1X
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KEY INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

e) Fiduciary Oversight Arrangements

The Council provides strategic direction, exercise control and remain accountable through
effective leadership, entrepreneurship, integrity and good judgment. The University Council
oversight arrangement is coordinated by the following Council Committees which have their
fiduciary responsibilities as outlined in the Corporate Governance Statement set out on pages

XViii to xxiil.

(a) Finance, Planning and Development Committee
(b) Academic and Research Commiittee
(c) Human Resources Committee

(d) Audit and Compliance Committee

f) Headquarters
P.O Box 136-90100
Wote Road
Machakos, KENYA

2) University Contacts
Cell: 0735 247939 / 0795 207117
E-mail: info@mbksu.ac.ke
Website: www.mksu.ac.ke

h) University Bankers

1. National Bank of Kenya

P.O. Box 274-90100

Machakos

Accounts held: Fees collection Account, Operations Account, Development Account

2. KCB Bank Kenya
P.O. Box 30-90100

Machakos
Accounts held: Fees collection Account, Research Account, Chancellor’s Scholarship

Account, Endowment Account
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KEY INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3. Standard Chartered Bank
P.O. Box 29-20100

Machakos
Accounts held: Fees collection Account, MksU Hotel Account

4, Equity Bank
P.O Box 2453 - 90100

Machakos
Accounts held: Fees collection Account

5. Co-operative Bank

P.O. Box 1250-90100

Machakos.

Accounts held: Fees collection Account

i) Independent Auditors
Auditor General
Office of the Auditor General
Anniversary Towers, University Way
P. O. Box 30084, GPO 00100,
Nairobi, KENYA.

j) Principal Legal Advisor
The Attorney General
State Law Otfice, Harambee Avente
P.O Box 40112, City Square 00200,
Nairobi, KENYA

xi
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UNIVERSITY COUNCIL MEMBERS

- Chairman, University Council

. Council Member and

Chairman, Human Resources Committee of Council

Dr. Margaret Makumi is a medical doctor, a public hedlth specialist and a
Takemi Fellow in International Health from Harvard T.H. Chan School of
Public Health. She has vast experience developing, managing, implementing,
researching, and advising health programs and institutional strengthening in
the region for better health outcomes. Margaret has worked for the public and
private sectors holding high leadership and management positions; providing
strategic directions and thinking including development and implementation
of policies, strategie plans; identifying and designing new projects aligned to
the host country's thematic policies and strategic plans: taking lead roles in
programmatic, financial and administrative oversight of complex national
and donor funded health and population related programs and projects.

Dr. Margaret Makumi, Medical N
DoctonBublic Health speciallshs 4

Council Member and

_ Chairman, Audit and Compliance Committee of Council
eite 18 dn eaper renced anc SHccessyul commer (61 74] marager ana leacder

with extensive experience gained in sales and marketing of pharmaceutical
products and Vaccines in E. Africa. -
He is curvently a pharmaceutical consultant with Exeter Pharmaceuticals, UK.
He is immediate former Commercial Director for GlaxoSmithKline, (GSK) E.
Africa Pharmaceuticals.

M. Abelle is currently pursuing a Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.) in Business
Administration, Um"ver.s*.r'zy of Nairobi.

He is a holder of a Master of Business Administration degree (MBA) from
Mr. Patrick Abelle Y Nkumba University-Uganda

He has Bachelor of Science in Biochemistry and Zoology. (B.sc) 1991,
University of Nairobi.
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UNIVERSITY COUNCIL MEMBERS (Continued....)

Council Member and

. Chairman, Academic and Research Committee of Council
\Dr Zipporah Mutea holds the Ph.D. in Education of the University of Nairobi

la;uec;'a!fsr’ng in Curriculum Studies. She further holds a Master of Educatior
\(M.Ed.) in Education Administration and Planning and a Bachelor of Educatior

\(B.Ed.) majoring in Literature and Linguistics, both of the University of Nairobi
Dr Mutea has received training in leadership and strategic management from the
Kenya School of Government and she is a certified ISO systems auditor having
received training from the Kenya Bureau of Standards (KEBS). She is ar
education researcher and writer. Dr Mutea is currently an Education Consultan
N . \with Publix (Africa) Ltd. where she is also a director. Between 2017 and 2020, Di

N\ |
Dr. Zipporah Mutea, Phd

|
|
|

Mutea participated in research studies with HIVOS East Africa, Educatior,
Development Trust and the Ministry of Education (MOE). At the MOE, she was
the Team Leader for the Baseline Study for Early Grade Mathematics Assessmeni
(EGMA). For seven years between 2009 and 2016, Dr Mutea was a Lecturer in
Education at Maasai Mara University where she also supervised posigraduate

|

students. She served in different capacities as: examinations coordinator for the
school of education, teaching practice coordinator, Chairman of the Department
'of Curriculum, Instruction and Educational Management. member of the
University Senate and member of the Board of Posteraduate Studies. She served

\in several committees including: Programmes Review Committee and Academic
|Staff Recruitment Committee. She has co-authored ten Secondary School English
i!ex!hoo.{zs' and Teachers’ Guides published by Longman Kenya Publishers. She has
also published journal articles and presented papers in many conferences
nationally and internationally. Dy Mutea is a member of Kenya Oral Literature
Association (KOLA) and Society of Educational Research and Evaluation in
|Kenya (SEREK).

She worked at the Kenya National Examinations Council (KNEC) as a Test
\Developer, Researcher and Examinations Manager. While working at KNEC, Dr
\Mutea coordinated the study that established the National Assessment System for
Monitoring Learner Achievement (NASMLA). As a secondary school teacher and
«an employee of the Teachers' Service Commission (ISC), Dr Mutea taught in
several secondary schools including Meru School and Starehe Boys' Centre.

Xiii
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UNIVERSITY COUNCIL MEMBERS (Continued....)

Chairman, Finance, Planning and Develoj

' Committee of Council

Mr. Mativu has over fifieen years’ experience in the social development sector
an advocate, facilitator, and research consultant, with a special focus on huni
rights, disability and inclusive development.

M. Mativu holds MBA from University of Nairobi, Kenya, where he specializea
Strategic Management and MA — Human Rights from the same institution. 1
Bachelor's Degree is BA with a double major in Economics and Sociology. Riche
has done short courses under a fellowship in University of Hlinois — Urbanc
Champaign as well as International Institute of Social Studies — Den Hac
Netherlands.

Mr. Mativu is currently working as a Country Director for an International Ne
Governmental Organization. He has previously worked with other CSOs as well
with the Kenya Governmenl in different capacities.

Mr. Patrick Njoroge

Member of the Council and Representative, PS$,
Ministry of National Treasury and Planning,

Mpr. Patrick Njoroge is a Director of Planning at the National Treasury. He hold
a Master of Science degree in Development Planning from the Technica
University of Dortmund (Germany), Masters of Science Degree in Strategi.
Management from Moi University. He has over 27 years' experience in Polic:
Formulation, Sectoral and Strategic Planning, Finance and Budgeting both a
the National and County levels.
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Dr. Joyce Ngure, Ph.D.

Rep. Principal Secretary,
State Department of University Education and Research

Key Qualifications: PhD in Vegetable Sciences, Nanjing Agriculture University. She
also has Masters and Bachelor of Science degrees in Horticulture from Egerton
University.

Work Experience: She has a wealth of experience in areas of research and project
coordination and management. Currently, the Assistant Director Research in the
Ministry of Education in the Directorate of Research Science and Technology. she is
also the Project Coordinator for the National Physical Sciences and Research
Laboratories as well as the Project Officer in the Science and Technology Parks

Initiative Project

Vice Chancellor and $Secretary to the Council

Prof. Lucy W Irungu graduated from the University of Nairobi with a BSc First class
honours degree (Entomology). She holds an MSe in Entomology and Applied
Parasitology and a PhD in Entomology, both from the Liverpool School of Tropical
Medicine, University of Liverpool having been awarded Commonwealth Fund for
Technical Cooperation and Association of Commonwealth Universities (ACU)
scholarships respectively. Prof Irungu joined the International Centre of Insect
Physiology and Ecology (icipe) in August 1978 as a graduate research scholar during
which time she pursued her MSc and PhD studies at the Liverpool School of Tropical
Medicine, University of Liverpool. During this time, she carried out research on vectors
of Leishmaniasis and Filariasis.

Prof. Irungu joined the Dept of Zoology, University of Nairobi as a lecturer in 1988. She
served as Chairman of Department of Zoology from 1999 to 2004 and was appointed
Principal for the College of Biological and Physical Sciences in 2004 a position she held
until March 2011 when she was appointed the First Deputy Vice Chancellor, Research
Production and Extension, following a compelitive process.

Prof Irungu assumed the post of first Vice Chancellor of Machakos University on 20th
February 2018.

In 2011, she was a member of the Higher Education Task Force and chaired the Science,
Technology and Innovation Committee which developed the Science Technology and
Innovation Bill, later enacted as the STI Act 2013. She belongs to several professional
organizations, has served as a member in several boards and is currently the Chairman
of the Academic and Management Board KWSTI, Board member JRS Biodiversilty
Foundation (USA) and President of EARIMA. Prof Irungu is a Fellow of the Royal
Society of Tropical medicine and Hygiene and Fellow of the Kenya National Academy
of Sciences and a member of the Kenya Institute of Management.

Prof Irungu is a vibrant researcher in vector biology and host-vector-parasite
relationships with specific interest in malaria vectors and parasites of neglected
diseases. She has published extensively in refereed journals and has mentored and
supervised several posigraduate research students. She continues engaged in research
and supervision of postgraduate students to date, in addition to promoting innovation.
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MANAGEMENT TEAM

Prof. Lucy W. Irungu
Vice Chancellor

Ph.D. — Medical Entomology and Applied Parasitology.
The Academic and Administrative Head of the University.

77 % AN
/4 2\
3:. ? " T
Prof. Joyce J. Agalo Prof. (ENG.) Douglas Shitanda Prof. Peter N. Mwita
Deputy Vice Chancellor (ASA) Deputy Vice Chancellor (APF) Deputy Vice Chancellor (RIL)

Ph.D. (Statistics).
In-Charge of Research,
Innovation & Linkages

Ph.D. (Processing Engineering).
In-Charge of Administration,
Planning and Finance

Ph.D. (Education).
In-Charge of Academic and

Student Affairs

Prof. Ezrei O.
Okemwa

Registrar (ASA)

Ph.D. (Knowledge
Management).

Supports the functions of
the Academic & Student
Affairs Division.

Fa

CPA Aileen A.
Nyatuga

Chief Finance Officer

MBA (Accounting),

CPA(K).

Supports the Financial

Management function

XVi

Dr. Susan Nzioki

Registrar (AP)
Ph.D. (Human
Resource
Management).
Supports the functions
of Administration and
Planning

Dr. Wycliffe
Amukowa
Registrar (RIL)

Ph.D. (Philosophy of
Education).

Supports the functions
of the Research,
Innovation & Linkages
Division
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

[ take this opportunity to present the Annual Report Financial Statements for the Financial Year
ended 30™ June, 2021. The 2020/2021 Financial year has been the most challenging year due
to the spread of COVID-19 across the world thereby necessitating the need tor additional
infrastructure to meet the Ministry of Health and World Health Organization protocols. This
has therefore adversely affected the fiscal space of all entities and businesses. Machakos
University was no exception. The University’s planned operations were therefore, adversely

affected and our financial capacity in terms of internally generated revenues was hanpered.

However, in spite of all these seemingly insurmountable financial difficulties, the University
Council played its financial strategic and oversight roles aimed at optimal utilization of the
available resources. The Council, therefore, wishes to thank and appreciate the continued
financial support from the Government and other stakeholders during this challenging period.
Notwithstanding the challenges, during the 2020/2021 Financial Year, the University
continued with the construction of the Tuition and Office Block Complex. The University
appreciates the continued support from the Government which saw the University receive

Kshs. 74 M development grants earmarked for the project during the period.

The University continues to support the implementation of TVET programmes as a way of
complementing the Government’s efforts in Competence Based Curriculum and the Big Four
Agenda. To this end, the University is struggling to finance these programmes and has had to
supplement her operations with limited internally generated incomes. It is also worth noting
that in the same period, the University had to operate under very difficult COVID~19 protocols
in teaching as well as provision of services to students and other stakeholders. This resulted in

pressure on the existing infrastructure, both financial and physical.

As an Institution of Higher Learning, the Council therefore, urges the Government to continue
funding the existing capital projects and increase its financial support to the University so as
to enable her deliver her core mandate in Academic and Research in the 21st Cenfury and

make her contributions in the Big Four Agenda and Vision 2030.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

During the Financial Year, the University Council in consultation with the University
Management and Senate continued with the review and implementation of the University’s
Strategic Flan 2021-2024 to be in line with the dynamics of the education sector in Kenya and
especially in the wake of the pandemic. This will ensure the University offers effective

Academic and Social programmes that are need-driven and meet the demands of the society.

Finally, I wish to emphasize that the University Council is fully committed to working with the
various stakeholders and partners towards enhancing our capacities in delivering our mandate
at Machakos University. As I conclude, once again, I thank the Government and all

stakeholders, suppliers and all service providers for their support and continued cooperation.

-----------------------------------------------

Chairman of Council
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Annnal Reports and Financial statenients for the year ended June 30, 2021

REFORT OF THE VICE CHANCELLOR

[ wish to take this opportunity to present the Machakos University Financial Statements for the
year ended 30" June, 202 1. Despite the hard economic times brought about by the COVID 19
Pandemic, the University continued to fulfill its mandate and operated under very tight
financial management this past year. This is in light of the fact that the Government has
continued to reduce its funding to universities while costs keep on sky rocketing day by day.
However, the University focused on its priority areas namely: teaching and training,
community outreach, research, innovation and linkages in pursuant to tulfilling its financial

obligations.
Academic and Student affairs

The University continues to engage the CUE and continues to develop programmes for the
accreditation that are market-driven for industrial and socio-economic growth of this Country.
The University offers degree programs as well as TVET courses. The certificate and diploma
programs are now offered entirely by TVET with the exception of the postgraduate diploma
courses; diploma in education arts and sciences.

To embrace the virtual and online learning, the University has established ODeL and has
integrated the ICT in all its teaching services. As a result, the technology related costs and other
teaching materials have weighed heavily on the financial resources of the University.

The welfare of the students remain the number one priority as we seek to support and enhance
their academic environment while in campus. However, one of the greatest challenges in the
management of students’ welfare is the large number of brilliant students who cannot afford
to meet their fees requirements. To mitigate this problem and to minimize incidences of
dropping out due to lack of fees, the University internal bursary facilitated the disbursement of
KShs. 1 million which benefited 478 needy students.

The University also put in place work-study programme for these students to work and their
compensation goes towards paying their fees and their upkeep. This amounted to KShs 177,650
in the financial year. Through Chancellor’s scholarship programme, 78 needy students

Xix
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benefitted to the tune of KShs. 847,406 Rattansi scholarships also benefited 231 students
amounting to KShs. 739,980. We appeal to more donors to come forward to financially assist
needy students who cannot atford University Education.

Research, Innovation and Linkages

Through the strategic partnership with Tianjin City Vocational College, the University has
managed to initiate Bachelor of Science in Cloud Computing and Information Security as a
vesult of establishing the Luban Workshop. The Luban Workshop is an international exchange
and cooperation brand initiated by the Government of China to promote vocational technical
training around the world. Besides, the Luban Workshop continues to support the development

of other ICT skills, innovation incubation and video conferencing services for the University.

3 N TR LS TN Nl T L BT s
During the period under review, the University continued with the construction of Ajiry, an
initiative being undertaken in partnership with Tribus-TSG with the support of MasterCard
Foundation. The Centre seeks to provide entrepreneurial infrastructure start-up catalyst for
tapping into the intellectual capital inherent in commercially viable innovations by staff and
students.

To scale up efforts towards embracing renewable energy, the University has initiated the
construction of solar assembly plant in partnership with Solar Afric. The Plant will support the
production of solar energy equipment as well as provide a training platform towards skilled
manpower, which in turn informs the achievement of the University’s aspirations contained in

the Renewable Energy Policy.

XX
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Solar Systems Iraining Lenter Madels of Solar Installations

The University continued to take staft through trainings on grant proposal writing, grant
management, research partnership and research methods and Intellectual Property among
others. This has seen the University research grants output, for both individual and
collaborative projects, continue to grow.

Qur growing strategic partnerships have continued to fill the gaps in which our staff are now
winning both research grants and scholarships. The University’s innovation outputs have also

continued to grow with a number put into commercialization.

To avail a platform for knowledge dissemination, the University continues to increase
participation of staff in conferences, seminars and workshops. This ending financial year, the
University organized and held its 3™ International Conference from 22 - 26" June whose

theme was “Responding to Emerging Global Challenges through Research, Innovation and

Technology for Sustainable Development.

X1
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Keynote Presentation at the 2° Aanual Internatianal Conference.

Administration, Planning and Finance

The University is currently undertaking one major project of Tuition and Office Block. The
project has remained behind schedule at the end of the period due to challenges in government
funding. The project is over 68% complete and requires about Kshs. 550 million to be complete.
The building shall provide offices, boardrooms, laboratories, lecture rooms and conference

rooms thus, significantly reducing space deficiency in the University.

In order to improve security, the University embarked on construction of a biometric gate and
the project is expected to be in use in the first quarter of the 2021-2022 Financial Year. This

project is estimated to cost the University Kshs. 6 million.
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REPORT OF THE VICE CHANCELLOR (CONTINUED)

During the year, the University successfully implemented the 2013-2017 local CBA. However,
although the university ensured continued implementation of the 2013-2017 national
Collective Bargaining Agreements, partial implementation of 2017-2021National CBA, full
implementation was affected by delayed release of Government funds as we are all aware.

[ am pleased to convey my appreciation and gratitude to the University Council, Management
and all the members of staff for their support, commitment and dedication to their work and

their efforts that have seen Machakos University attain its financial obligations.

To address sound financial management, the University put in place the necessary financial,
procurement and internal control measures on resource utilization to ensure that it nieets the
targets of revenue collection and cost control measures. However, these measures were

adversely affected by COVID-19 Pandemic forcing the University to revise its budget.

Finally, despite the many challenges the University faced during the year, I am glad to report
that the University managed to stay afloat financially. [ therefore, express my sincere gratitude
to the Government of Kenya and particularly the State Department of University Education and

Research for the recurrent funding of the University as per the estimates.

Prof. Lucy/W. Irungu
Vice Chancellor & ssor of Entomology
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STATEMENT OF MACHAKOS UNIVERSITY PERFORMANCE AGAINST PREDETERMINED
OBJECTIVES FOR FY 2020/2021

Machakos University has six (6) strategic pillars and objectives for the Financial Year
2020/2021 informed by the 2021-2024 Strategic Plan. These strategic pillars are as follows:

Pillar 1: Academic Excellence

Pillar 2: Human Resource Management

Pillar 3: Performance

Pillar 4: Research, Science, Technology and Innovation
Pillar 5: Infrastructure

Pillar 6: Financial Growth and Sustainability

Machakos University prepares its annual work plans based on the above six (6) pillars.
Assessment of the Board’s performance against its annual work plan is done on a quarterly
basis. The University achieved most of the performance targets set for the FY 2020/2021 period

for her strategic pillars, as indicated in the table below:

XXiv
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Machakos University
Aunmeal Reports and Financial statements for the year ended Juie 30, 2021

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Good corporate governance in any State Corporation is central to its effectiveness and sustainability.

It plays a leading role in how Corporations and their Boards of Management are directed, controlled
and held to account. Corporate governance, therefore, encompasses the systems, practices and
procedures by which the individual corporation is regulated in order to remain competitive, ethical,
sustainable and fair.

Machakos University Council adheres to principles of openness, integrity and accountability in its
stewardship of the University’s affairs. [f recognizes the evolving nature of corporate governance as
well as the University’s compliance with generally accepted corporate governance practices on a
regular basis, directly and through its Council committees and University Board of Management.
The role of the Council is to ensure conformity to the overall University overall strategic direction
through policy-making as well as perforimance review by instituting accountability and appropriate
monitoring and supervision. The Council is also responsible for the maintenance of internal control
systems and their continued review, for their effectiveness. The internal controls are designed to
both safeguard the University’s assets while ensuring the reliability and credibility of financial
information.

The University Management Board, comprising, the Vice Chancellor, Deputy Vice Chancellors,
Registrars and Chief Finance Officer meets regularly to consider strategic issues of operational
importance to the University.

Below are the key features of the existing corporate governance practices within Machakos

University which are reviewed and improved on a regular basis: -

1. UNIVERSITY COUNCIL

Machakos University Council was appointed on 4th November, 2020 and inaugurated on 18t
December, 2020, for a three-year tenure until 3@ November 2023. It consists of the Chairman and
eight members, who have been appointed in accordance with the Universities Act (2012). Itis a
requirement by law that the full University Council meets at not more than four times a Financial
Year. The Council is responsible for guiding the direction of the University through the establishment
of strategic plan, objectives, key policies and approval of budgets. Through the various Committees,
it monitors the implementation of stiategies and policies deployed by University Management.

xliii
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Muachakos University
Annual Reports and Financial stutentenis for the year ended June 30, 2021

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Council is actively involved and brings strong independent judgment on its deliberations and
discussions. The University Council members have diverse skill set, a wide range of knowledge and
experience of university setting that is beneficial in the formulation of strategic planning,
formulation of objectives and decision making. Since its inauguration on 18t December 2020, the
Council has met regularly and retained full and effective control over the University in all strategic,
financial, operational and compliance areas.

The University council held the following Full Council meetings during the 2020/2021 Financial

Year:

Table 2: Full Council meetings LR : £
Name | Designation No of Meetings Meeﬁngs attended |
N ey e _ T et Snsies - skt |

' Dr. Zipporah Mutea | Independent Member 3 ]

{ Dr. Margalet Mz_{kuml """"" Independent Member B . -
e Independent Me111be1 ............................. e =

El\/ﬂ Peter Njoroge Rep.CS,TNT | 8§ _
Dr. Joyce Ngure ' Rep. PS, SDUE &R 3 |

'_Flof Lucy Irunwu ; ' B . Secreiéi::}_rmef Council [ _3_"' - _

COUNCIL COMMITTEES

To assist the Council in the discharge of its responsibilities, Council committees have been
established. All the Council committees meet at least four times a year. The committees are as follows:

1. FINANCE, PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

Membership

(1) Mr. Richard Mativu - Chairman

(2) Mr. Peter Njoroge - Representative - Cabinet Secretary, The National Treasury

(3) Dr. Joyce Ngure — Rep - PS, State Department of University Education and Research
(4) Dr. Margaret Makumi — Council Member

(5) Prof. Lucy Irungu (Vice-Chancellor) — Secretary

Responsibilities:
1. To receive, consider and submit the proposed budget estimates from the various sections
for approval by the Council;

xliv
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Machakes University
Annual Reports and Financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

2. To control the banking and investment operations of the Council and to make provision for
the examination of all the bills and accounts and for the discharge of liabilities incurred by
the University;

3. To control all the expenditure of the University under approved annual estimates;

To receive and consider all requests for authorization of expenditure more than the approved

annual estimates and make recommendations fo the Council; -

To consider and propose fees and other rates to the Council;

To report to the Council all matters related to finance and development;

To ensure that accurate records are kept on the establishments in the University;

To consider and recommend to the Council the priority development projects and receive

reports, and the recommendations of Management on the progress of the physical

development of the University;
9. To report to the Council on the progress of physical infrastructure development of the

>

Rl

University;
10. To prepare University Development plans for an approved period and submiit to the Council;
and
11.To exercise such other powers as the Council may from time-to-time delegate to the
Commiittee.
Table 5: Finance Flanning and Development Copmiftee meetings
| Name | Designation | No. of Meetings | Meetings attended |
iMzﬁmerchatﬁm C_l_:lc’:;lrlllﬁl’l LA A | i xne
!_Dr. Margaret Makumi | Member ' 3 ! 3 il
| Mr. Peter Njoroge | Rep. CS, TNT i AL - M TR S
' Dr. Joyce Ngure | Rep. PSSDUE &R~ | i | 3
?rPI'b_ﬂ Lucy Irungu | Secretary of Council | 3 ! 3

2. ACADEMIC AND RESEARCH COMMITTEE
Membership

(1) Dr. Zipporah Mutea — Chairman

(2) Mv. Patrick Abelle -Independent Member

(3) Dr. Joyce Ngure — Rep. PS, State Department of University Education and Research

(4) Mr. Peter Njoroge — Rep. Cabinet Secretary, The National Treasury

(5) Prof. Lucy Irungu (Vice-Chancellor) — Secretary

Responsibilities:

(1) To advise the Council on academic programmes where the University has
competitive advantage;

xlv
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

(2) To receive and recommend all policy documents dealing with academic and research.

(3) To receive and recommend to the Council all Memorandum of Understanding/Agreement
pertaining to collaboration and linkages;

(4) To assist the University in establishing collaboration with industry and other stakeholders;

(5) To lobby for bursaries, research grants, scholarships and funds for capacity building;

(6) To exercise such other powers as the Council may from time-to-time delegate to the

Committee.

T&bfe 4: Academic and Research Committee  Meetings T s
 Name | Designation | No. of Meefings | Meefings attended |
' Dr. Zipporah Mutea | Chairman 3 =
| Mr. Patrick Abelle Member 3

_Mﬁ’éter Njoroge i CS e :

| Dr. Joyce Ngure Rep. PS,SDUE&R | 3
: ' Prof. Lucy Irungu | Secretary | 3

3. HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE

Membership

(1) Dr. Margaret Makumi - Chairperson
(2) Mr. Richard Mativu - Council Member
(3) Dr. Joyce Ngure — Rep - PS, State Department of University Education and Research
(4) Mr. Peter Njoroge - Representative - Cabinet Secretary, The National Treasury

(5) Prof. Lucy Irungu (Vice-Chancellor) - Secretary

Responsibilities:

(1) To review and make recommendations to the Council on Staff Terms and Conditions of
Service as and when necessary or when directed to do so by the Council fron time to time;

(2) To consider proposals of Terms and Conditions of Service made by staff unions through the
University Management Board;

(3) To receive and review, from time-to-time human resource policies and the code of conduct
of the University employees;

(4) To plan for human resource development in the University;

(5) To receive, consider and recommend to the Council staff recruitment and proniotion criteria;

(6) To examine and recommend to the Council staff rationalization and career structures within
the University; and

(7) To exercise such other powets as the Council may from time-to-time delegate to the
Committee.

xlvi
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Table 5: Human Resouree Comuniittee meefmgs

| Name Demgnaﬂon ' No. of Meelmgs - ! Meetings Eiﬁended_l
Dr. Margaret Makumi | Chairman i _E I
Mr. Richard Mativu | Member | 8

| Dr. Joyce Ngure Rep. PS, SDUE&R | e 3
" Mr. Peter N_]Ologe Rep. CS_, NT 1 v 3 :
“Prof. Lucy Irungu | Secretary 3 |

4. AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

Membership

(1) Mr. Patrick Abelle - Chairman
(2) Dr. Zipporah Mutea - Council Member
(3) Dr. Joyce Ngure — Rep - PS, State Department of University Education and Research
(4) Mr. Feter Njoroge — Rep. Cabinet Secretary, The National Treasury
(5) CPA John Ngure (Chief Internal Auditor) - Secretary
Responsibilities:
(1) To evaluate adequacy of management procedure with regard to issues relating to risk
management, control and governance;
(2) To reviewing and approve the audit charter where applicable and internal audit annual work
plans;
(3) To review internal and external audit findings and recommendations and propose corrective
and preventive actions where necessary;
(4) To review the systems established to ensure sound public financial management and internal
controls, as well as compliance with policies, laws, regulations, procedures, plans and ethics;
(5) To initiate special audits and or investigations on any allegations, concerns and complaints
regarding corruption, lack of accountability and transparency in consultation with the
Accounting Officer; and
(6) To exercise such other powers as the Council may tfrom time-to-time delegate to the Committee
Table 6: Audit and C‘ompffdmc‘ Committee medm;g's

Name ' Designation ' No. of Meetmgs - Meenngs attended |

| Mr. Patrick Abelle Chairman T 35 8

Dr. Zipporah Multa | Miember O R mec i

'Mr. Peter Njoroge Rep. CS, TNT 3 3 )

| Dr. Joyce Ngure Rép_PS SDUE&R | 3 8 il

| CPAJohnNgure | Secretary I I
xlvii
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Anial Reports and Financial statentents for the yeur ended June 30, 2021

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
Besides the four main Council committees, there also exist other ad-hoc committees namely:

(a) Appeals committee.

(b) Graduation and Sealing committee

(c) Honorary degrees’ committee

(d) Appointments comunittee for grades 14 and 15
(e) Senior management staff disciplinary committee for grade 14 and above

The following were ad-hoc meetings held during the year:

Table 7: Appointments Committee meetings

| Name Designation [ No. of | Meetings | Meetings |
| Meetings | invited | attended |
 Dr. Zipporah Mutea Chairman P 1 1 ]
B e v e e = : S 1_1
- Prof. Lucy Irungu Secretary of Council 1 1 1 ‘:

Table 8: Staff Appeals committee nieeting

' Name Designation =~ T'ﬁ&_—'_“df"‘! Meetings attended |

. _ . Meetings
- ' Chairman of Council 0 0

?_]_31'. Mat‘gaufét Makumi | Chairman HR Committee 0 o0 |

| Prof. Lucy Trungu [ Secretaryof Council |0 "0

' Name Designation | No. of Meetings | Meetings attended
" Mr. Patrick Abelle ' Chairman A 1
| Dr. Zipporah Mutea Member R 1
' Dr. Joyce Ngure Rep. PS SDUE&R 1 | 1
| Prof. Lucy Irungu | Secretary to Council -, 1 1

2. Council Members’ Remuneration

Sitting allowance for council members, monthly honoraria and telephone services for the chairman
are guided by circular No. OP/CAB.9/21/2A/LI1/43 dated 23" November, 2004. The daily
subsistence allowance of Kshs. 18,200.00 is guided by circular No. OP/SCAC.9/21.2VOL1 (164)
dated 28" April, 2015. The remuneration for Council members consists of Chairman's monthly
honoraria in addition to the sitting and subsistence allowancss, together with mileage
reimbursement for the services of council members in connection with council & council committee

xIviii
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meetings during the financial year ended 30t June, 2021 are outlined under Note 10 (Council
expenses) of the Financial Statements
3. Succession Plan
The appointment of council members is the prerogative of the Cabinet Secretary, Ministry of
Education. Menibers have no control of the appointment and duration of service.

4. Board Charter
Machakos University Council has a board charter that is to be approved and adopted. The Council is

also guided by Mwongozo Code of Governance.
5. Appointment and removal of Council members
The appointment of Council members is the prerogative of the Cabinet Secretary, Ministry of
Education
6. Inducfion and Training
The current Machakos University Council members were inducted from 24" to Friday 26
February 202 1. Members also attended training on Audit and Compliance between 7' and 9t June
2021.
Table 10: Training days

' Name Designation Days of Trainings | Days attended |
| Dr. Jamleckﬂl\_ﬁﬁ*tugi i Chairman of Council | ey SBE T o ' 3
' Dr. Zipporah Mutea | Independent Member | 3 | = 8 |
| Mr. Richard Mativu In"cliéﬁendent Member | = 3 3

Dr. _M'a‘i"_ggffautﬁﬂriﬂct'ih_l-im | Independent Member 3 3 |
| Mr. Patrick Abelle Iﬁdependent_ﬁéﬁ{ﬁér” | s 1
| Mr. Peter Njoroge | Rep. CS, TNT 3 _: 3

Dr. Joyce Ngure | Rep. PS, SDUE &R | 3 1T 8
Prof. LucyIrungu  [SecretaryofCouncil | 3 | 8 |

7. Council and Council Members’ Performance
The evaluation was conducted on 215t September 2021 by the State Corporations Advisory

Commission (SCAC).

8. Conlflict of interest
In every Council meeting held by the Machakos University Council, Members declare conflict of

interest on matters in the agenda and register the same in the conflict of interest register book.

9. Ethics and Conduct
Machakos University Council Members uphold the highest standard of Ethics and conduct while

executing their mandate.

10. Governarce Audif
The Council has put in place a combination of processes and structures to inform, direct, manage

and monitor the activities of the University towards the achievement of its objectives. There is an

independent audit and compliance commiittee that reports to the Council on a regular basis. The audit

xlix
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Annual Reports and Fingncial statentents for the year ended June 30, 2021
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
committee plays a key role in assisting the Council to fulfill its oversight responsibilities in areas such
as financial reporting, internal control systems, risk management systerus and the internal and

external audit functions.

11.Internal Controls
The University has implemented and maintained internal controls designed to provide reasonable

assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements and to adequately safeguard
and maintain accountability of the University’s assets. Such controls are based on Law, Government
& University regulations, Policies and circulars and are implemented by trained personnel with
appropriate segregation of duties. The effectiveness of the system of internal controls is monitored

regularly through internal audit functions, operational meetings and the annual external audit.

12. Going Concern
The University Council confirms that Machakos University has adequate resources to continue in
operation for the foreseeable future and therefore, the continued use of going concern as a basis of
preparing the financial statements. Machakos University has experienced increasing Student
population, Staff population and its financial stability in-terms of statutory remittances and meeting

other financial obligations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SECTION A: OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

A) REVENUE ANALYSIS:

During the 2020/2021 financial year, Government grants contributed to 73% of the total recurrent
revenues while tuition and its related incomes contributed to 17%. Income generating activities and
research contributed to 7% and 2% respectively. Amortization grants in kind contributed to 1%. The
University mostly depended on grants from the government to execute its operations as shown in

figure 1.

I.G.A. & Other Incomes
7%

Tuition & Other
Related Incomes . ———

17%

Amortized Grantsin
kind
1%

Research and Donor
Grants
2%

= Government Grants = Research and Donor Grants Amortized Grants in kind

# Tuition & Other Related Incomes = |.G.A. & Other Incomes
Figure 1: Revenues for FY 2020/202 1

There was a bit of improvement in government recurrent grants in 2020/2021 financial year
compared to 2019/2020 financial year. However, the tuition and related income together with the
revenues from Income generating activities dropped due to the effect of Covid-19 pandemic in the
2020/2021 financial year. Research and donor grants a!so dropped in the 2020/2021 financial year

as shown in figure 2.

ISO 9001:2015 Certified ...............................Searing Heights in Transforming ndustry and Economy




Muachakos University
Annual Reports and Financial statenients for the pear ended June 30, 2021

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

1,200,000,000

1,000,000,000

800,000,000
600,000,000
400,000,000
200,000,000 '
R T e | — -
Government Research and CBA Grants Amortized Grants  Tuition & Other  1.G.A. & Other
Grants Donor Grants in kind Related Incomes Incomes

W 2020-2021 = 2019-2020

Figure 2: Comparison of Income between 2020/2021 and 2019/2020

The University appreciates the government for increasing the recurrent grants (capitation) from
727.97 million in the 2017/2018 financial year to 966.26 million in the 2020/2021 financial year.
This has ensured financial stability in meeting the institution’s expenditure especially the payroll

costs as shown in figure 3.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

1,000,000,000
950,000,000
900,000,000
850,000,000
800,000,000
750,000,000
700,000,000
650,000,000
600,000,000

P OD G T (— 966,260,930

727,975,082

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Figure 3: Trend analysis - Government Grants

The university experienced a decrease in research grants from 12.6 million in FY 2017/2018t0 11.8
million in FY 2018/2019. The grants increased to 25.0 million in the subsequent financial year but
later reduced to 19.56 million in the 2020/2021 financial year as shown in figure 4.

30,000,000
25,000,000

20,000,000 19,562,711

15,000,000

==12;6257245 11,804,185

10,000,000

5,000,000

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Figure 4: Trend analysis - Research and Donor Grants

Tuition and other related incomes increased from 305.0 million to 364.9 million in 2018/2019
financial year. This increased tuition fees were mainly because of the re-introduction of TVET
programmes and the increased number of degree students. The tuition incomes later reduced to
324.9 million in 2019/2020 and 221.3 million in financial year 2020/2021 due to the ~ffects of
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

COVID-19 pandemic which adversely affected the university operations by suspending the physical

lectures up to around May 2021 as shown in figure 5.

600,000,000
500,000,000
400,000,000 PRI

300,000,000 ===205045,098 =——324,923,438
200,000,000 Se—— 221,323,927
100,000,000

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Figure 5: Trend analysis - Tuition & Other Related Incomes

Revenues from income generating activities grew from 74.8 million in FY 2017/2018 to 152.7
million in FY 2018/2019. The increased revenue was mainly attributed to the university hotel which
had more conferences relating to the national population census in the year 2019. The revenue later
tell to 100 million in FY 2019/2020 and 95.3 million in the FY 2020/2021 due to the effects of

COVID-19 which adversely affected the operations of the university as shown in figure 6.

200,000,000
150,000,000
100,000,000
74,762,561
50,000,000
2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Figure 6: Trend analysis - 1.G.A. & Other Inconies

The Surplus for the year dropped from 38.7 million in 2017/2018 to 33.9 million in 2018/2019.
The surplus grew to 94.5 million in 2019/2020 but the university experienced a deficit of 55.5
million in 2020/2021 financial year. During the year the university experienced reduced revenues

liv
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

from income generating activities while depreciation expenses continued to increase as shown in

figure 7.
90,000,000 94,504,129
40,000,000 38,728,008 23,859,960
(10,000,000) 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021
(60,000,000} 54,937,078

Figure 7: Trend analysis - Surplus / Deficit

B) EXPENDITURE ANALYSIS

During the 2020/2021 financial year, employment costs took the highest amount of recurrent
expenditure with 76%. Administrative and operations expenses formed 10% with the academic

expenses taking 4% of the total recurrent expenses. The council expenses were 1% of the total

recurrent expenditure as shown in figure 8.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Other Expenses
Repairs & 2%
Maintenance '

Depreciation

I-" Ll L

Employment Costs
76%

¥ Employment Costs W Council Expenses

W Academic Expanses M Administration & Operations Expenses

Repairs & Maintenance Expenses M Other Expenses

Depreciation Increase in Provision for doubtful debts

figure 8: Total Expenses for FY 2020/2021

The financial year had a substantial decrease in employment costs; decreasing by 54 million because
the 2017-2021 CBA arrears had been provided in the previous financial year. Administrative and
operation expenses increased by 4 million while academic expenses decreased by 35 million due to
minimal operations after the global effect of Covid-19 pandemic. Council expenses decreased by 4
million considering that some of the council meetings were held virtually. Other expenses decreased
by 18 million due to closure of operations in the Le Technisch hotel at the start of the financial year

as shown in figure 9.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Figure 9: Comparison of expenses between 2020/2021 and 2019/2020

Employment costs have continued to increase from 897.3 million in 2017/2018 to 1.05 billion in
the 2020/2021 financial year. The employments costs in 2019/2020 included 2017/2021 CBA
arrears for 3 years of Kshs. 96.3 million as shown in figuire 10.

1,200,000,000
1,100,000,000

1833
1,048,522,419

1,000,000,000

900,000,000
800,000,000
700,000,000
600,000,000

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021
Figure 10: Trend analysis - Employment Costs

Council expenses increased from 9.1 million in 2017/2018 to 11.3 million in 2019/2020 but later
reduced to 7.5 million in the 2020/2021 financial year. This is due to reduced cost of meetings
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

attributed to virtual meetings held in the financial year because of the effects of the COVID-19 as
shown in figure 11.

Trend analysis ~ Council Expenses

12,000,000

11,000,000 v
10,000,000 ’/m
9,000,000 ,111,481

8,000,000
7,000,000
6,000,000
5,000,000

11,317,002

7,544 989

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021

Figure 11: Trend analysis - Council Expenses

Academic expenses increased from 81 million in 2017/2018 to 90.9 million in 2018/2019 but later
reduced in 2019/2020 and 2020/202 1 financial years. This is due to the effects of COVID-19 which
forced the university to close physical lectures from March 2020 to May 2021 as shown in figure
12

120,000,000

100,000,000
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Figure 12: Trend analysis - Academic Expenses
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Administration and operation expenses have been increasing from 116 million in 2017/2018 to 142
million in 2020/2021 financial year. The costs dropped in 2019/2020 due to effects of COVID-19
on some expenditure lines as shown in figure 13.
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Figure 13: Trend analysis - Adnunisiration & Operations Expenses

Repairs and maintenance costs have been decreasing from 16 million in 2018/2019 to 8.9 million
in 2020/2021 financial year as shown in figure 14.
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Figure I14: Trend analysis - Repairs & Mainfenance Expenses

Other expenses increased to 52.4 million in 2018/2019 because of the increased operations in the
University Hotel but later dropped in 2019/2020 and 2020/2021 financial years due to the effects
of COVID-19 which forced the hotel to close for a couple of months as shown in figure 15.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Figure 15: Trend analysis - Other Expenses

Depreciation expenses have been increasing over the years because of the increasing number of fixed
assets of the University as shown in figure 16.

Trend analysis ~ Depreciation Expenses
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Figure 16: Trend analysis - Depreciation Expenses
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

C) STATEMENT OF THE FINANCIAL POSITION

The fixed assets of the University increased from 2.77 billion in 2019/2020 financial year to 2.86
billion in the 2020/2021 financial year. The increase in the asset base of the university is attributed
to the continued implementation of the ongoing capital project i.e. tuition and office block as shown
in figure 17.

3,500,000,000
e agel, 2019-2020,
3,000,000,000 2,859,606,166 2,773,185,154

2,500,000,000
2,000,000,000
1,500,000,000
1,000,000,000

500,000,000

2020-2021 2019-2020
Fgure 17: Non-Current Assets

The University closed the financial year with current assets of Kshs. 363 million which are able to
cater for the current liabilities of Kshs. 280 million. This implies that the liquidity of the University
is favourable as at the end of the 2020/2021 financial year as shown in figure 18.

= CURRENT ASSETS = Current lizbilities

Figure 18: Current Assets Vs Current liabilifies
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The University has increased its fixed asset base from 2.37 billion in 2017/2018 to 2.86 billion in
2020/2021 financial year as shown in figure 19.
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Figure 19: Trend analysis - Froperty, Flant & Equipment

Trade and other receivables increased from 142.2 million 2017/2018 to 271.9 million in
2019/2020 but later dropped to 170.6 million in 2020/2021. In 2019/2020 there were CBA grants
receivable of Kshs. 96.3 million as shown in figure 20.
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Figure 20: Trend analysis - Trade and other Receivables
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Cash and bank balances increased from KSh. 95.46 million to KSh.281.6 million in 2018/2019 but
later dropped in 2019/2020 and 2020/2021. In 2018/2019, the University received development
grants of 96 million that remained in the bank account as at the close of the financial year as shown

in figure 21.

290,000,000

281,552,974
240,000,000
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Figure 21: Trend analysis - Cash & Bank balances

Current assets had been increasing from 2017/2018 to 2019/2020 but dropped in the 2020/2021
financial year because of the reduced receivables and; cash and bank balances as shown in figure

22,
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Figure 22: Trend analysis - Current Assets
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The University has experienced growth in its net assets (Reserves) from 2.43 billion in 2017/2018
to 2.94 billion in 2020/2021. The development grants received, surpluses and the donations
received over that period have all contributed to this growth as shown in figure 23.
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Figure 23: Trend analysis - Nef Assefs

Current liabilities increased in 2018/2019 to 392.9 million but reduced in the 2019/2020 and
2020/2021 financial years. The University has continued to clear its short-term obligations over the
period as shown in figure 24.
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Figure 24: Trend analysis - Current liabilities
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
D) STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS AS AT 30™ JUNE 2021

The University closed the financial year with cash and cash equivalent of Kshs. 167.3 million
compared to the Kshs. 199.4 million in the 2019/2020 financial year. The University cleared some
of the outstanding recurrent and#eapital creditors carried forward from the previous financial year

hence the decrease as per figure 25.
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Figure 25: Cash & Bank Balances
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

E) STATEMENT OF COMPARISON

OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS

The University realized its budgeted revenues except for the tuition and related incomes, and
research grants which fell short of the budget by KSh. 41million and 11 million respectively as per

figure 26.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

On average, the University spent less than what was budgeted for on recurrent expenditures. The
Capital expenditures slightly exceeded the budget by 1.8 million because the government reduced
development grants meant for the construction of the tuition block as per figure 27.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

SECTION B: KEY PROJECTS AND INVESTMENT DECISIONS PLANNED AND IMPLEMENTED

Within the financial year ended 30™ June 2021, the University has been implementing the
following projects in order of priority:

e e e e % of.____ ] e T Lo
S/No | Project : of the Remarks
SRR R SR IR
1. Tuition and Office Block 68 G.OK Sl
Development of Sports and e
2. | Games facility 2 o AEA On-going and on schedule |
(Plase Sl v SRR e |

Funding of capital projects

Funding for the projects was based on expected development grants. However, the Government
funding policy was reviewed and release of funds is only based on the projects listed in the

Printed estimates. The Government Priority is also to fund ongoing projects before embarking on new
ones. The government reduced the allocation of Kshs. 148,060,888 for Tuition and Office block by
50% and disbursed Kshs. 74,030,444 for the FY2020/2021. This slowed down the completion rate
for the project.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

SECTION C
COMPLIANCE WITH STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS

During the financial year the University complied with all statutory requirements and is not exposed

to potential litigation issues or exposure to contingent liabilities.

SECTION D: MAJOR RISKS
OPERATIONAL RISKS

This is loss resulting from inadequate or failed procedures, systems or policies. Some of the risks in
the University include:

1) ERP System failure

2) Failure by customers to pay for services offered

3) Some students fail to pay their full fees

4) Some debtors from non-tuition activities delay paying for services rendered

5) Insecurity
6) Global effects of the Covid-19 pandemic

7) Unrests
Risk Mitigation Strategies

1) Enhancement of the ERP system

2) Enhancing debt collection measures

3) Entorcement of the fees payment policy

4) Enforcement of the 100% payment for the Hotel services

5) Installation of biometric systems, engaging armed police officers and outsourcing the security
services and construction of perimeter wall

6) Adherence to Ministry of Health protocols of covid-19

7) Negotiation and mediation on disputes

MARKET RISKS

These are losses due to factors that affect the overall performance of the market. Some of the risks in
the University include:

1) Not attracting many module two students due to the competition trom other universities and
colleges.
Ixix
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

2) lnability to attract and retain qualified lecturers due to competition and financial constraints.
Risk Mitigation strategies:

1) Targeted marketing of academic programmes and the University
2) Enhance the diversity and quality of the University programmes
3) Create a conducive working environment

CAPITAL RISKS

The University is exposed to the possibility that an entity may lose money from an investment of
capital. Some of the risks in the University include:

1) Underperformance of income generating units/activities
2) Damage to University infrastructure
3) Poor workmanship by the contractors

Risk Mitigation Strategies

1) Inject seed capital and commercialization of the products.
2) Insure University assets.
3) FProcurement of qualified contractors and professional monitoring of projects.

LIQUIDITY RISK
This is the inability to meet financial demands. Some of the risks include:

1) High cash demand
2) Failure to honour contractual obligations due to budget cuts.

Risk Mifigation strategies:

1) Proper planning
2) Enhanced government capitation and resource mobilization strategies.

SECTION E: MATERIAL ARREARS IN STATUTORY AND OTHER FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

The University has no material arrears in statutory and financial obligations to the national
exchequer or any other Government agency.

Ixx
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SECTION F: FINANCIAL PROBITY AND SERIOUS GOVERNANCE ISSUES

The University does not have any cases of financial improbity as reported by internal audit/ Audit
committee, external auditors, or other National Government Agencies providing oversight.

There were no governance issues among the members of the Council and between the Council and
management team, including conflict of interest.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING

Increasing environmental concerns, stringent rules and regulations combined with public
awareness, have changed the outlook of business around the world today. By planning and’
implementing appropriate strategies and functions like green processes and energy conservations,

institutions and businesses can play an important role in achieving sustainability.

Iree Planting led by The Dean and Students from School of Environment.

Machakos University’s overall mandate is to Teach, Train, conduct Research, Innovate, and
Collaborate, generate new knowledge and provide Community Service to contribute to
environmental sustainability. This mandate forms the basis of the various University policy,
operational and administrative instruments. For instance, the University’s previous and current
strategic plans, the development of new progrémmes and review of the existing ones aimed at having
in place market driven programmes, developed and adopted policies, the University’s Service Charter
and the review of the University’s Statutes are all premised on this purpose. Further, the University
continues to pursue policies, strategies and interventions that promotes environmental and

sustainability reporting as highlighted below.

Ixxii
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING (CONTINUED)

i.  Sustainability strategy and profile
A sustainable strategy translates into long term success. Those benefits are not simply economic but
benefit environment, local community and overall society. In addition to driving social and
environmental change, sustainability initiatives can contribute to an institution’s overall success.

Sustainability strategy basically has implications on human, social, econoniic and environmental

dimensions.

The overall strategies of the company to improve business efficiency must include complete
environmental obligations and energy consumption guidelines. Environmental stewardship and
energy conservation drive should be followed within the company's supply chain across the globe.
Strategies which support cost reduction, increase operating and energy efficiency, lower air, water
and soil pollution, save natural resources are the most effective strategies of any company. Companies
introduce innovative methods to improve Information and technology operations to enhance the

performance, without increasing the energy consumption.

The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), also known as the Global Goals, were adopted by the
United Nations in 2015 as a universal call to action to end poverty, protect the planet, and ensure
that by 2030 all people enjoy peace and prosperity. The 17 SDGs are integrated in such a way that
action in one area will affect outcomes in others, and that development must balance social, economic
and environmental sustainability. Quite a number SDGs touches on environmental sustainability.
These include SDG 3 (go00d health and well-being), SDG 6 (clean water and sanitation), SDG 7
(affordable and clean energy), SDG 11 (sustainable cities and communities, SDG 12 (responsible
consumption and production), SDG 13 (climate change) and SDG 17 (partnerships for goals). These
goals are anchored or reflected in Kenya’s vision 2030 (The Social Strategy) and the current

governments Big-Four Agenda.

Ministry of Environment and National Environmental Management Authority have put in place
mechanisms towards actualizing and monitoring the environmental sustainability goals and
programmes in Kenya. Kenya’s Green Economy Strategy and Implementation Plan 2016 - 2030,

points as the main environmental thematic areas for focus as Promote sustainable infrastructure,
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING (CONTINUED)
building resilience, Sustainable Natural Resource Management, Promoting resource efficiency, Social

Inclusion and sustainable livelihoods. The drafting of Machakos University Workplace.

Environmental policy and other programmes such as tree planting and stakeholder/community

involvement has quite been informed by this plan.
ii.  Environmental performance

Machakos University has integrated her environmental and sustainability strategy into the
University’s day-to-day operations by pursuing deliberate steps to conserve, protect, and improve the
supply and quality of natural resources and environmental media such as energy and water and
aligning and integrating programs to aid achieve as many positive outcomes as possible in
environmental, economic, and social systems. The reporting matrix (table 11 below) with regard to
Machakos University performance on environmental sustainability indicators has been customized
from the template/format provided by National Environment Management Authority (NEMA). some
of the notable realizations include MksU workplace environment management policy which is in
draft form and is expected to be presented in the University Senate, tree planting exercises by staft

and students, initiatives on energy savings and waste management.
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Muctakes University
Annual Reports and Finaucial statenients for the year ended June 30, 2021

Table 11: Machakos University Environmental and Sustainability Reporting FY 2020-2021

No. | Area of focus | Target/Activity | Indicator Achievemen | Variance | Comment,

t status challenges
Environment | Development of | Workplace 70%

L. al an institutional | environmental -30% Draft policy in
Policy at the | operational policy place to be tabled in
workplace environment the University

policy Senate
Waste Install waste Segregated bins in These are not
2 management | bins place 100% ~ utilized effectively.
initiatives and in use There is need to
sensitize
stakeholders on the
same
Climate -Installation of - Low energy - Rain water
S change low energy consumption 100% - harvesting,
adaptation consumption devices in place underground tanks
and devices (lights) | (lights) (ADB)
mitigation -Installation of | -Rain water - Use of rainwater
initiatives rain water harvesting for
harvesting structures in place cleaning and
structures - Alternative watering
-Installation of | sources of
alternative green energy in
sources place
of green energy

Planting Plant/support ~-1600 trees

4. trees tree planting planted within the 320% +220% Target  surpassed
initiatives university because of
500 trees land donations of tree
seedlings received

Fromoting Identify and Collaboration with

5. environment | engage at least Equity bank in 100% Donation of 1000
al ore partner in tree planting trees were received
protection tree planting from Equity Bank
and initiative
conservation
through
partnerships
with
stakeholders

-,
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING (CONTINUED)

ii.  Employee welfare
MksU has put in place various policies that guide the welfare of the staff and amongst them is
the Human Resource Policy and Procedure Manual which has incorporated policies that provide

information on the staff welfare.
The HR Policy Manual has the following eighteen (18) policies

Code of Conduct and Ethics

Staff Recruitment

Lo T o T

Staff Performance Management
Staff Reward Management

S s

Staft Training and Development
Staff Promotion

Leave Management

Staff Insurance

Staff Safety and Health

10. Staff Social Welfare

5 00 o)

11.Succession Planning and Staff Retention
12. Staff Sexual Harassment

13. General Harassment

14. Disciplinary Policy Procedures

15. Staff Separation

16. Benevolence

17.Sabbatical Leave

18. Visiting Academic Staff

Other Policies that take care of the welfare of the staff are MksU Gender Mainstreaming Policy
and the MksU Disability Mainstreaming Policy.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING (CONTINUED)

During recruitment, gender mainstreaming guidelines are taken into consideration as guided by

the Policy and the Government circulars in a deliberate effort to achieve the ultimate goal of

gender equity in all areas.

MksU has put in mechanisms of ensuring that staff are motivated through statf development and
training. There is a Staff Training and Development Policy in place and mitigating measures that

are derived from the performance appraisal process.

The policy on safety and compliance with Occupational Safety and Health Act of 2007, (OSHA.)
is domiciled in the HR Policy Manual.

iv.  Market place practices

a. Responsible competition practice

Procurement department often relies on a competitive bidding process to achieve better value
for money in its procurement activities. To enhance competing on the same platform the bidders
are issued with the same tender document which on submission is evaluated based on the
evaluation criteria provided in the tender document.

Low prices and/or better products are desirable because they result in resources either being
saved or freed up for use on other goods and services. Procurement methods such as open tender
requires that the lowest evaluated bidder be awarded the tender. However, to avoid price under
cutting, the lowest bid has to be within prevailing market rate. After evaluation and award of
tender the winning bidder is issued with award notification letter and at the same time the other

bidders are debriefed on reasons they were not awarded the tender.

b. Responsible supply chain and supplier relations

Contracts are honored as per the contractual terms agreed between the suppliers and the
University, Payments are also done as per the agreed timelines. Youth, Women and PWD’s are
paid Within 30 days and as per the Government Circular. The University has ensured that

suppliers are advised on the documents needed to process their payments in good ftime.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING (CONTINUED)

c. Responsible marketing and advertisement

The University has established a Corporate Affairs, Public Relations and Marketing Directorate

that is responsible for marketing and advertisement of the University.
d. Product stewardship

The University through the School of Environmental Science and Natural Resource Management
has contributed to the reduction of the effects of environmental degradation through the

development of programmes to disseminate knowledge on environmental sustainability.
Corporate Social Responsibility/ Community engagements
(a) Donation of food stuffs

Machakos University donated foodstuffs to Machakos Women Prisons and Bricks as one of her

Corporate Social Responsibility activities of the Institution during the period 2020-2021.

GUVEKNMEL

(b) Bursary and Sponsorship

During the FY 2020-2021, 478 students received internal facilitated bursaries, 231 students
received sponsorship through Rattansi Scholarships and 78 students benefited through the
Chancellors kitty.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(c) Career and Academic Mentorship

Machakos University was involved in offering career advice to students within and around
Machakos County during the 2020-2021 FY. The university did this in collaboration with
KUCCEFS in preparing students who had sat for their KCSE on career choices. The University also
offered internship and industrial attachment to youth from the surrounding community and

Institutions.
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REPORT OF THE UNIVERSITY COUNCIL

Machakos University Council submit their report together with the audited financial statements
for the year ended June 30, 2021 which shows the state of Machakos University affairs.

Principal activity

The principal activity of Machakos University is to provide scholarly education through
Training, Research and Innovation for industrial and socio-economic transformation of our

communities.

Results

The results of Machakos University for the year ended June 30, 2021 are set out on page 1 to 10
University Council Members

The members of the University Council who served during the year are shown on page viii to x.
Auditors

The Auditor General is responsible for the statutory audit of Machakos University in accordance
with the provisions of Article 229 of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010 and section 7 of the Public
Audit Act, no. 34 of 2015.

By Order of the University Council

VICE CHANCELLOR/COUNCIL SECRETARY Date: .. /0L 3 2D D |-
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STATEMENT OF UNIVERSITY COUNCIL’S RESPONSIBILITIES

Pursuant to Section 81 (1) of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012 and Sections 14 & 15
of the State Corporations Act, Machakos University Council is required to prepare statements in
respect of the University which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the University
at the end of the financial period, and the operating results of the University for that period. The
University Council is required to ensure that the University maintains proper accounting
records, which disclose, with reasonable accuracy, the tinancial position of the University. The
Counecil is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the University.

The Council is responsible for the preparation and presentation of Machakos University financial
statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the University for and as at
the end of the financial period ended on June 30, 2021. This responsibility includes: (@)
maintaining adequate management arrangements and ensuring that these continue to be
effective throughout the reporting period; (ii) maintaining proper accounting records, which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the University; (iii)
designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements, and ensuring that they are free from material
misstatements, whether due to error or fraud; (iv) safeguarding the assets of the University; (v)
selecting and applying accounting policies; and (vi) making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in circumstances.

The Council accepts responsibility for Machakos University financial statements, which have
been prepared using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates, and in conformity with International Public-Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSAS) and in the manner required by the PEM Act, 2012 and State Corporations Act
Cap 446. The Council is of the opinion that Machakos University financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of the University transactions during the year ended June 30, 2021,
and of its financial position as at that date. The Council further confirms the completeness of the
accounting records maintained for the University, which have been relied upon in the
preparation of the University financial statements as well as the adequacy of the systems of
internal financial control.

Nothing has come to the attention of the Council to indicate that the University will not remain
a going concern for at least the next twelve months from the date of this statement

Approval of the financial statements
The Machakos University financial statements were approved by the Council on 29" September,

2021 and signed on its behalf by:

sssssseassnssasnsssnsssansaraphelodecasesnraceesss  sassssssssssssssssssnsdssanans

Prof. Lucy W. Irurgw

Vice Chancellor/Cotincil Secretary Chairman of Council
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REPUBLIC OF KENYA

HEADQUARTERS
Anniversary Towers
Monrovia Street

FICE OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL P.O. Box 30084-00100
NAIROBI

Telephone: +254-(20) 3214000
E-mail: info@oagkenya.go.ke
Website: www.oagkenya.go.ke

Enhancing Accountability

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL ON MACHAKOS UNIVERSITY FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2021

PREAMBLE

| draw your attention to the contents of my report which is in three parts:

A. Report on the Financial Statements that considers whether the financial statements
are fairly presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework,
accounting standards and the relevant laws and regulations that have a direct effect
on the financial statements.

B. Report on Lawfulness and Effectiveness in Use of Public Resources which considers
compliance with applicable laws, regulations, policies, gazette notices, circulars,
guidelines and manuals and whether public resources are applied in a prudent,
efficient, economic, transparent and accountable manner to ensure government
achieves value for money and that such funds are applied for intended purpose.

C. Report on Effectiveness of Internal Controls, Risk Management and Governance
which considers how the entity has instituted checks and balances to guide internal
operations. This responds to the effectiveness of the governance structure, the risk
management environment, and the internal controls developed and implemented by
those charged with governance for orderly, efficient and effective operations of the
entity.

An unmodified opinion does not necessarily mean that an entity has complied with all
relevant laws and regulations, and that its internal control, risk management and
governance systems are properly designed and were working effectively in the financial
year under review.

The three parts of the report are aimed at addressing the statutory roles and
responsibilities of the Auditor-General as provided by Article 229 of the Constitution, the
Public Finance Management Act, 2012 and the Public Audit Act, 2015. The three parts
of the report, when read together constitute the report of the Auditor-General.

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Qualified Opinion

| have audited the accompanying financial statements of Machakos University set out on
pages 1 to 37, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June, 2021,
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and the statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets,
statement of cash flows and statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information in accordance with the provisions of Article 229 of the
Constitution of Kenya and Section 35 of the Public Audit Act, 2015. | have obtained all
the information and explanations which, to the best of my knowledge and belief, were
necessary for the purpose of the audit.

In my opinion, except for the effect of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion section of my report, the financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Machakos University as at 30 June, 2021, and of its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with
International Public Sector Accounting Standards (Accrual Basis) and comply with the
Universities Act, 2012, and the Public Finance Management Act, 2012.

Basis for Qualified Opinion
1. Student Debtors

The statement of financial position reflects a balance of Kshs.168,160,304 in respect to
trade and other receivables from exchange transactions which, as disclosed in Note 16(a)
to the financial statements, includes an amount of Kshs.126,584,101 in respect of student
debtors. A provision of Kshs.28,844,815 for doubtful debts has been made representing
50% of students debts which had been outstanding for more than 5 years. However, the
schedule provided in support of the balance did not include details of the invoice dates
and student numbers for most of the debtors and therefore, the authenticity and adequacy
of the provision could not be confirmed.

In the circumstances, the accuracy, completeness and recoverability of long outstanding
student debtors of Kshs.126,584,101 as at 30 June, 2021 could not be confirmed.

2. Trade Debtors

The trade and other receivables from exchange transactions balance of
Kshs.168,160,304 also includes trade debtors of Kshs.59,960,566. However, the
supporting schedule provided for audit revealed that debts totalling Kshs.59,408,859 were
brought forward from previous years and their collectability remained doubtful. Further,
the brought forward debts did not disclose the names of the debtors casting doubt on the
authenticity of the brought forward debts.

Consequently, the accuracy, completeness, validity and collectability of trade debtors
balance of Kshs.59,960,566 as at 30 June, 2021 could not be confirmed.

3. Intra-University Debts

The trade and other receivables from exchange transactions balance of
Kshs.168,160,304 further includes other debtors amounting to Kshs.10,460,452. The
latter balance includes debts totalling Kshs.5,955,450 owed by ‘Machakos University’
meaning that the University was its own debtor. The debts arose from intra-university
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transactions and do not represent arm’s length transactions and should have been offset
from the reported debtors balance.

In the circumstances, the validity of the debt of Kshs.5,955,450 debts and that of the
related revenue as at 30 June, 2021 could not be ascertained.

4. Unaccounted for Contractors’ Retentions

As disclosed in Note 21 to the financial statements, the statement of financial position
reflects trade and other payables balance of Kshs.280,063,512 which includes
contractors retentions balance of Kshs.37,510,526. However, the bank account
maintained for deposits operated at the National Bank of Kenya had a balance of
Kshs.7,012,134 as at 30 June, 2021, resulting in a difference of Kshs.30,498,392.
Management explained that the University spent part of the funds to pay contractors
following delayed Exchequer releases to avoid penalties and interest. However, no
documents were provided to indicate when the amounts were withdrawn, utilized and
related approvals from the University Council.

Consequently, the accuracy and completeness of the contractors retentions balance of
Kshs.37,510,526 as at 30 June, 2021 could not be confirmed.

The audit was conducted in accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit
Institutions (ISSAIs). | am independent of the Machakos University Management in
accordance with ISSAI 130 on Code of Ethics. | have fulfilled other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the ISSAl and in accordance with other ethical requirements
applicable to performing audits of financial statements in Kenya. | believe that the audit
evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my qualified
opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgment, are of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements. There were no key audit matters to
report in the year under review.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

Conclusion

As required by Article 229(6) of the Constitution, based on the audit procedures
performed, except for the matters described in the Basis for Conclusion on Lawfulness
and Effectiveness in Use of Public Resources section of my report, | confirm that, nothing
else has come to my attention to cause me to believe that public resources have not been
applied lawfully and in an effective way.

Report of the Auditor-General on Machakos University for the year ended 30 June, 2021
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Basis for Conclusion
1. Lack of Staff Ethnic Balance

Review of human resource documents revealed that, the University had five hundred and
four (504) employees out of whom two hundred and ninety-three (293) representing 58%
of the workforce were from the local dominant community. This is contrary to the
provisions of Section 7(2) of the National Cohesion and Integration Act, 2008 which
stipulates that no public establishment shall have more than one third of its staff from the
same ethnic community.

The University Management was in breach of the law.

2. Unapproved Commitments after 31 May

Review of the local purchase orders provided for audit revealed that, the University
entered into seventy-seven (77) commitments amounting to Kshs.8,926,809 in the month
of June, 2021 without approvals in writing from the Accounting Officer. This is contrary to
the provisions of Section 51(1) of the Public Finance Management (National Government)
Regulations, 2015 which stipulates that no commitment should be done after 31 May
without approval in writing from the Accounting Officer.

The University Management was in breach of the law.
3. Delayed Completion of Tuition and Office Block Project

Included in the balance is Work-in-Progress of Kshs.430,630,650 is an amount of
Kshs.428,907,050 relating to ongoing works on tuition and office block. The contract for
the construction was awarded on 6 July, 2017, at a sum of Kshs.986,761,115 over a 3
years period. However, as at the time of this audit in September, 2021, the project was at
70% completion level and value of works certified was Kshs.440,682,116 representing
45% of the contract sum. Review of the approved budget for the year under review,
revealed that project had a final budget of Kshs.74,030,444 against actual expenditure of
Kshs.83,555,444 leading to an excess expenditure by Kshs.9,525 000 which was
occasioned by reduction in the budget of development grants after expenditure had
already been incurred.

No explanation was provided for the delay in completion of the project and for failure to
impose sanctions against the contractor for breach of contractual provisions. Further, no
documentary evidence was provided to indicate that the contractor had renewed the
performance bond after expiry of the contract period.

In the circumstances, the project implementation is behind schedule and the likelihood
for cost escalation may hinder the University to obtain value for money from the
investment.

The audit was conducted in accordance with ISSAI 4000. The standard requires that |
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain assurance
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about whether the activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the
financial statements are in compliance, in all material respects, with the authorities that
govern them. | believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for my conclusion.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

Conclusion

As required by Section 7(1)(a) of the Public Audit Act, 2015, based on the audit
procedures performed, | confirm that, nothing has come to my attention to cause me to
believe that internal controls, risk management and overall governance were not effective.

Basis for Conclusion

The audit was conducted in accordance with ISSAI 2315 and ISSAI 2330. The standards
require that | plan and perform the audit to obtain assurance about whether effective
processes and systems of internal control, risk management and overall governance were
operating effectively, in all material respects. | believe that the audit evidence | have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my conclusion.

Responsibilities of Management and the University Council

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards (Accrual
Basis) and for maintaining effective internal control as Management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control, risk management and governance.

In preparing the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the
University’s ability to sustain services, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
sustainability of services and using the applicable basis of accounting unless
Management is aware of the intention to terminate the University or to cease operations.

Management is also responsible for the submission of the financial statements to the
Auditor-General in accordance with the provisions of Section 47 of the Public Audit Act,
2015.

In addition to the responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the financial
statements described above, Management is also responsible for ensuring that the
activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements are
in compliance with the authorities which govern them, and that public resources are
applied in an effective way.

The University Council is responsible for overseeing the University's financial reporting
process, reviewing the effectiveness of how the Management monitors compliance with
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relevant legislative and regulatory requirements, ensuring that effective processes and
systems are in place to address key roles and responsibilities in relation to governance
and risk management, and ensuring the adequacy and effectiveness of the control
environment.

Auditor-General’s Responsibilities for the Audit

The audit objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’'s report that includes my opinion in accordance with the provisions
of Section 48 of the Public Audit Act, 2015 and submit the audit report in compliance with
Article 229(7) of the Constitution. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISSAls will always detect
a material misstatement and weakness when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements.

In addition to the audit of the financial statements, a compliance audit is planned and
performed to express a conclusion about whether, in all material respects, the activities,
financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements are in
compliance with the authorities that govern them and that public resources are applied in
an effective way, in accordance with the provisions of Article 229(6) of the Constitution
and submit the audit report in compliance with Article 229(7) of the Constitution.

Further, in planning and performing the audit of the financial statements and audit of
compliance, | consider internal control in order to give an assurance on the effectiveness
of internal controls, risk management and governance processes and systems in
accordance with the provisions of Section 7(1)(a) of the Public Audit Act, 2015 and submit
the audit report in compliance with Article 229(7) of the Constitution. My consideration of
the internal control would not necessarily disclose all matters in the internal control that
might be material weaknesses under the ISSAls. A material weakness is a condition in
which the design or operation of one or more of the internal control components does not
reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements caused by error or fraud in
amounts that would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may
occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of
performing their assigned functions.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control may not prevent or detect
misstatements and instances of non-compliance. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
University’s policies and procedures may deteriorate.

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with ISSAls, | exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. | also:
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Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management’s use of the applicable basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the University's
ability to continue to sustain its services. If | conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
| am required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my audit
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the University to cease to
sustain its services.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information and
business activities of the University to express an opinion on the financial statements.

Perform such other procedures as | consider necessary in the circumstances.

| communicate with the Management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that are identified during the audit.

| also provide Management with a statement that | have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

L

CPA Y ,CBS
AUDITOR-GENERAL

Nairobi

13 July, 2022
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Machakos University
Aunnual Reporis qird Financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021
—NIJE Notes 20 5 A ; ;

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Governnient Grants 5(a)
Research and Donor Grants 5(b)
CBA Grants 5(c)
Amortized Grants in kind 6
Revenue from exchange transactions

Tuition & Other Related Incomes 7
L.G.A. & Other Incomes 8
Total Revenue

EXPENDITURE

Employment Costs 9
Counecil Expenses 10
Academic Expenses 161
Administration & Operations Expenses 12
Repairs & Maintenance Expenses 13
Other Expenses 14
Depreciation 15
Increase in Provision for doubtful debts 16(a)
Total Expenditure

Surplus / Deficit

The notes set out on pages 12 to 31 form an integral part of the Financial Statements

The Financial Statements set out on pages 1 to 11 were signed on behalf of the University
Council by:

A Aileen Nyatuga Prof. LW%@ ........ —Cﬁ“"‘ N‘ SRS

Chief Finance Officer Vice. Chancellor Chairman of Council
ICPAK No. 491432
Date .. 0. 22227 Date \R.3.:290. ... Date .. (... %R0
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Muachakos University

Annual Reports und Financial stutements for the year ended June 30, 2021

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, Plant & Equipment
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Stocks-Inventories

Trade and other Receivables

Exchange transactions
Non-Exchange transactions

Cash & Bank balances

Total Assets

CAPITAL FUNDS & LIABILITIES

Net Assets
Capital Reserve
Revenue Reserve
Deferred Income
Sub-total

Current liabilities
Trade and other Payables

Total Net Assets and Liabilities

Notes |

19
20(a)
20(b)

2019-2020
Ksh

2,773,185,154
2,773,185,154

173,159,139
98,753,197
271,912,336

199,407,682

497,708,743

75,047,197)
8,691,294
2,895,743,663

375,150,234

The Financial Statements set out on pages 1 to 11 were signed on behalf of the University

Council by:

'A Aileen Nyatuga
Chief Finance Officer

ICPAK No. Y4 2

Date .\9: 5" W22 ...

@ ISO 9001:2015 Cenrtified ......................

Prof.

Vice cellor

...................

........

-----------
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Machatos University

Annnal Reperts aind Financial statemnenis for the year ended June 30, 2021

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Description

Balance as at 1st July 2019
Additional Capital

Revaluation Reserve

Frior year Adjustments

Surplus for the year 2019/2020
Amortized for the year 2019/2020
Balance as at 30th June 2020

Balance as at 1st July 2020
Additional Capital

Donated Equipment

Prior year Adjustments

Surplus for the year 2020/2021
Amortized for the year 2020/2021
Balance as at 30th June 2021

Capital Revenue Deferred Total
Notes Reserve Reserve Income
BSOS
259 (166,432,329)
19 | ' 4
L9
20(a) A%
20@ =3l
20(b) [T e e
12,962,099,567  (75,047,197)

19
15
20(@)
20(a)
20(p)
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Muachakos University
clitinal Reports and Financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Cash flows from Operating activities
RECEIPTS

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Revenue from exchange transactions

PAYMENTS
Employment Costs
Council Expenses

Academic, Administrative and other Expenses

Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from Investing activities
Purchase of Property, Plant & Equipment

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Cash flows from Financing activities
Development grants received
Net cash flows from investing activities

Net increase in cash & cash equivalents
Net cash & cash equivalents b/f

Cash & Bank balances as at 30th June

Notes 2020-2021 2019-2020
Ksh Ksh

22 (a) 1,082,082.436 1,050,600,306
22 (b) SUENEET 106 401 422,731,679
- 1,433,787,927 1,473,332,484
23 () BEEHIBT6E 1,066,124,285
23 (b) jj;‘f_;ﬁﬁ;f» 11,317,002
23 () B 352,524,391
888 ; 1,429,965,678
25 50,050,424 43,366,806
24 (156,193,434) (195,902,927)
24 (156,193,434) (195,902,927)
19 70,390,829
70,390,829
(82,145,292)
281,552,974
18 199,407,682

The Financial Statements set out on pages 1 to 12 were signed on behalf of the University

Council by:

(E EE :
PA Aileen Nyatuga

Chief Finance Officer
ICPAK No. 44 42

ISO-9001:2015 Certified .......................
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Muchakos University
Annual Reports und Finaucial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Machakos University is established by and
derives its authority and accountability from
The Universities Act. The University is
wholly owned by the Government of Kenya
and is domiciled in Kenya. Machakos

University’s principal activity is to provide
scholarly education through Training,
Research and Innovation for industrial and
socio-economic transformation of our

communities.

2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION — IPSAS 1

The financial statements have been prepared
on a historical cost basis except for the
measurement at re-valued amounts of
certain property, plant and equipment,
marketable  securities and financial
instruments at fair value, impaired assets at
their estimated recoverable amounts and
actuarially determined liabilities at their
present value. The preparation of financial
statements in conformity with the
International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSAS) allows the use of estimates
and assumptions. It also requires
management to exercise judgement in the
process of applying Machakos University
accounting policies. The arears involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements, are
disclosed in Note 4 (k) of these financial

statements.

ISO9001:2015 Certified ...........oooeiiaitay

The financial statements have been prepared
and presented in Kenya Shillings, which is
the functional and reporting currency of

Machakos University.

The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the Public Financial
Management Act (PFM), the state
corporations Act, the Universities Act and
International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSAS). The accounting policies
aclopted have been consistently applied to all

the years presented.

crewn0aring Heights in Transforming Industry and Econoniy




30 June 2021
' Standard | Impact
Other
| Improvements = a)
‘ to IPSAS
b)
|
|
)
|
J
|
d)

Muactiakos University
Annnal Reports and Financial statemenis for the year ended June 30, 2021

3. ADOFTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS

1. New standards and amended standards and interpretation in issue effective in the year ended

| Applicable: 1 January 2021:

Amendments to IPSAS 13, to include the appropriate references to IPSAS on impairment,
in place of the current references to other international and/or national accounting
frameworks.

- Machakos University did not have impairment loss or gain in the period under review
and therefore these amendments did not affect the university reporting in the 2020/2021
tinancial year.

[PSAS 13, Leases and IPSAS 17, Property, Plant, and Equipment.

Amendments to remove transitional provisions which should have been deleted when
IPSAS 33, First Time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSASs) was approved.

- Machakos University does not have leased properties and therefore these amendments
did not affect the university reporting in the 2020/2021 financial year.

IPSAS 21, Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets and IPSAS 26, Impairment of Cash
Generating Assets. Amendments to ensure consistency of impairment guidance to account
for revalued assets in the scope of IPSAS 17, Property, Plant, and Equipment and IPSAS 31,
Intangible Assets.

- Machakos University did not revalue its assets in the period under review and therefore
these amendments did not affect the institutions reporting in the 2020/2021 financial
year.

IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSASs). Amendments to the implementation guidance on deemed cost in IPSAS
33 to make it consistent with the core principles in the Standard. |

- Machakos University adopted IPSAS in the year ended 30 June 2015 and therefore the |

amendment on the first time adoption of accrual basis does not apply to the university. 1

12
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Machakos University
Aunnual Reports and Financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yef effective in the year
ended 30 June 2021

| Standard

|IPSAS 41:

| Instruments

i
i
|
|
I

Financial

| Effective date and impact: RIS l
Api)ﬁb&iblé: P T NUATY 2028: 0 b e ' &

i The objective of IPSAS 41 is to establish principles for the financial reporting of‘
| financial assets and liabilities that will present relevant and useful information to users |
|

| of financial statements for their assessment of the amounts, timing and uncertainty of

 an entity’s future cash tlows. !
' IFSAS 41 provides users of financial statements with more useful information than |
| IPSAS 29, by: I
| » Applying a single classification and measurement model for financial assets |

that considers the characteristics of the asset’s cash flows and the objective for

|

| |
; which the asset is held; [
! « Applying a single forward-looking expected credit loss model that is‘
| applicable to all financial instruments subject to impairment testing; and "
« Applying an improved hedge accounting model that broadens the hedging |
arrangements in scope ot the guidance. The model develops a strong link

between an entity’s risk management strategies and the accounting treatment |

for instruments held as part of the risk management strategy.

|
. . - . . . |
| Machakos University does not have any financial investments in stocks, bonds, loans

| and guarantees. The elements recognized in the university’s cash flows include the |

|
- cash and bank balances, receivables and payables. The standard will guide the |

| university to link the risk management strategies with the accounting treatment for

trade receivables and payables.

IPSAS 42:
Social

Benefits

Applicable: 1%t January 2023 ;
| The objective of this Standard is to improve the relevance, faithful representativeness
and comparability of the information that a reporting entity provides in its financial

| statements about social benefits. The information provided should help users of the |

financial statements and general purpose financial reports assess:

13
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Machakas University
Annual Reports and Financiad statements for the year ended June 30, 2021

| Standard | Effective date and impact: ;

~ | (a) The nature of such social benefits provided by the entity;
| (b) The key features of the operation of those social benefit schemes; and
,i (c) The impact of such social benefits provided on the entity’s financial performance,
| financial position and cash flows. ;
The University established a defined contributions benefits scheme by the name

Machakos University Retirement Pension Scheme. This amendment will improve the

presentation of the information reported about the pension scheme. :

Amendments _App]i_éhﬁiéﬁ 1st Janua.r)f' 2023:

to Other a) Amendments to IPSAS 5, to update the guidance related to the components of i
IPSAS ' borrowing costs which were inadvertently omitted when IPSAS 41 was issued. ?
resulting b) Amendments to IPSAS 30, regarding illustrative examples on hedging and ,
from IPSAS credit risk which were inadvertently omitted when IPSAS 41 was issued.
41, Financial c) Amendments to IPSAS 30, to update the guidance for accounting for financial |
| Instruments guarantee contracts which were inadvertently omitted when IPSAS 41 was
issued. [

!' | d) Amendments to IPSAS 33, to update the guidance on classifying financial .
i instruments on initial adoption of accrual basis IPSAS which were

| inadvertently omitted when IPSAS 41 was issued. |
| SN .. 1E ; E
| Machakos University does not have any financial investments in stocks, bonds, loans

and guarantees. The elements recognized in the university’s cash flows include the i
i

cash and bank balances, receivables and payables. The standard will guide the |

’ university on treatment for trade receivables and payables.

IIL. Early adoption of standards

Machakos University did not early — adopt any new or amended standards in the financial year
2020/2021.

14
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Machakes University
Annual Reports and Financial statemenis for the year ended June 30, 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Revenue Recognition
(6)) Revenue from non-exchange transactions-IPSAS 23

Donations are recognized when received and the asset recognition criteria are met. Values for
grants and donations related to property, equipment and other assets are estimated by the
University or as advised by donors. Donations in kind of current nature are recognized in the
year received and categorized as inventories while those of capital nature are provated in their
useful life in a systematic manner and categorized as deferred income in the financial staterments

in accordance with IFSAS 23.

Transfer from government entities are measured at fair value and recognized on obtaining the
asset if the transfer is free from conditions and it is probable that the economic benefits or service

potential related to the asset will flow to the university and can be measured reliably.
(ii)  Revenue from exchange transactions~IPSAS 9

Fees and other incomes are recognized when earned during the financial year. Revenue from
the sale of goods is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods and when the anount of revenue can

be measured reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated

with the transaction will flow to the university.

b) Budget Information-IPSAS 24

The Annual Budget is prepared on accrual basis, that is, all planned costs and income are
presented in a single statement to determine the needs of the university. As a result of the
adoption of the accrual basis for budgeting purposes, there are no basis, timing or university
differences that would require reconciliation between the actual comparable amounts and the
amounts presentec as a separate additional financial statement in the statement of comparison
of budget and actual amounts except for few items that are not budgeted for.

15
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Muachakos University
Annual Reporis and Financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2027

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

¢) Property, Plant and Equipment-IPSAS 17

All property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
iterms. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the university recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and

depreciates them accordingly.

Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of
the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair
and maintenance costs are recognized in surplus or deficit as incurred. Where an asset is
acquired in a non-exchange transaction for nil or nominal consideration the asset is initially

measured at its fair value.

Depreciation is calculated on straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
The annual rates in use are:

Land - 0%

Buildings - 2.5%

Motor vehicles - 25%

Furniture & Equipment - 12.5%

Computers - 33.33%

Library books - 5%

Loose Tools - 12.5%
Library books and Loose tools are accounted for under Property, Plant and Equipment as per the
IPSAS 17

d) Inventories-IPSAS 12
Inventory is measured at cost upon initial recognition. After initial recognition, inventory is

measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. However, to the extent that a class of
inventory is distributed or deployed at no charge or for a nominal charge, that class of inventory
is measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost. Net realizable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of operations, less the estimated costs of completion

and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale, exchange, or distribution. Inventories are

16
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Machakoys University
Annnal Reporis and Financial statenients for the year ended June 30, 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
recognized as an expense when deployed for utilization or consumption in the ordinary course

of operations of the university.
e) Nature and purpose of reserves

The university creates and maintains reserves in terms of specific requirements. The reserves are

maintained to cater for assets replacement, settlement of bad and doubtful debts, and any other

contingency.

f) Changes in accounting policies and estimates — IPSAS 3
The university recognizes the effects of changes in accounting policy retrospectively. The effects
of changes in accounting policy are applied prospectively; if retrospective application is

impractical.
<) Employee benefits-IPSAS 39

Retirement benefit plans

The University established a defined contributions benefits scheme by the name Machakos
University Retirement Pension Scheme under the custodian of Machakos university pension

scheme, where employees’ contributions are channeled to. The fund is managed by Liberty

Pension Scheme.
h) Related parties — IPSAS 20

The university regards a related party as a person or an entity with the ability to exert control
individually or jointly, or to exercise significant influence over the university, or vice versa.
These parties offer managerial, advisory and regulatory services. The National Government,
Members of Council and the management team are regarded as related parties in preparation of
these financial statements. National Government transactions have been disclosed under revenue
from non- exchange transactions (Recurrent grants) and under capital reserves (Development

grants), Members of Council allowances and management team remuneration have been

17
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Muchakos University
Annual Reports and Financial stateiments for the year ended June 30, 2021

disclosed under Administrative and Academic expenses in the statement of financial

performance. The related parties' transactions are summarized in tables (a), (b) and (c) below

_a) COUNCIL MEMBERS o At “sit o :
b ST 1 2020/2021 [  2019/2020 |
[SitfingAllowaiess - o T g a50000 ] 0. 4 ,606,000
| Mileage Allowances R e TR e L LT 878 102
Subsistence Allowanceb LoV, e N 2,068,500 !__h__' 4,080,300 | 300
Honoraria and Telephone i oA ks 3 420 R 1,044,000
Lunch Allowances IR R 6000 " - T 4000
(ORerR R VAR b s Sl e s P ST ﬂﬁi@Q" 704,600 |
Totals g iles o ST "B gee Y N1 507002 |
b) NATIONAL GOVERNM.ENT
|Grants ' A S e 2020/2021 | "zé’i’é/zozd;
| Recurrent L;i'a'nts SRS S 1 966,260,930 | 957,026,140 |
fC’E’.}a e e e 62,”1,3"5",‘049"}
I Development Glaﬁfs“ DS A = S R e 74030 i44_ [> 4 70,390 829 ]
" e b pn N SN R T L '. 1. 040 291 374 1,189 602 018 |
c) MANAGEMENT TEAM
T et el 4 2020/200T s 2019/2030 ]
| Total Lemuncmtlon 1 79,798,291 | 77 631 838 1|

i) Cash and cash equivalents — IPSAS 2
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, M-Pesa, cash at bank, short-term deposits on
call and highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less, which are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in
value.

J) Comparative figures
Where necessary comparative figures for the previous period have been amended, or

reconfigured to conform to the required changes in presentation.

k) Significant judgments and sources of estimation uncertainty — IPSAS 1
The preparation of Machakos University financial statements in conformity with IPSAS requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

18
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Muachakos University
Annual Reports and Financial statenienss for the year ended June 30, 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end
of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying anmount of the asset or
liability affected in future.
Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation of uncertainty
at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next period, are described. The university based its
assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were
prepared. However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments may
change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the university.
Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. IPSAS 1.140;
Useful lives and residual values
The useful lives and residual values of assets are assessed using the following indicators to inform
potential future use and value from disposal:
The condition of the asset based on the assessment of experts employed by the university

- The nature of the asset, its susceptibility and adaptability to changes in technology and

processes
- The nature of the processes in which the asset is deployed
- Availability of funding to replace the asset

- Changes in the market in relation to the asset.

Provisions:
- Provision for Doubtful debts policy
- A provision of 50% of any uncollected debt that is outstanding for 5 years and above as

a doubtful debt is provided.

1) The Accounts Receivables

- The Accounts receivables are stated at their nominal value.

19
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Muachakos University
Annual Reports and Financial statemends for the year ended June 30, 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

m) Accounts Payables
- The Accounts payables are stated at their nominal value.

n) Deferred Income

Deferred income arises as a result of donation in kind of fixed assets that are amortized annually
at a rate equivalent to the depreciation rate. All other relevant costs being freight, custom and

clearing charges are capitalized.

0) Capital Reserves
Capital reserves recognized in the financial statements comprises of development grants from

the ministry and revaluations of property, plant and equipment

p) Subsequent events — IPSAS 14
There have been no events subsequent to the financial year end with a significant impact on the

financial statements for the financial year ended 30™ June, 2021.

q) Corporate Tax
Machakos University is exempted from paying corporate tax by the Income Tax Act Cap 470 of

the laws of Kenya.
r) Financial Risk Management

Machakos University's activities expose the institution fo a variety of financial risks including
credit and liquidity risks, effects of changes in foreign currency and changes in market prices.
The University's overall risk management programme focuses on unpredictability of changes in
the business environment and seeks to minimize the potential adverse effect of such risks on its
performance by setting acceptable levels of risk. The university’s financial risk management
encompasses the scrutiny and proactive oversight of a number of key elements of the University’s

operations including Credit risk, Liquidity risk and market risk.

20
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Muchatos University
Annual Reports and Finaucial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(i) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations

resulfing in financial loss to the University, The University’s credit risk is primarily attributable

to its receivables. The amounts presented in the statement of financial position are net of

provision for doubtful debts, estimated by the University’s management based on prior

experience and their assessment of the current economic environment. The management

provides 50% for doubtful debts for non-performing debts in every year to mitigate the tinancial

risks.
| Performing (Below 5 ] Non-Performing (5 | Total
| . isemile o] L K NEATS). o . _yearsandabove) |
| As at 30t June 2021 Kshs fems . ENS L B Kshs |
| Student Fee arrears 74,186,627 | 52397475 | 126,584,101
Trade & Otherdebtors | 65,128, 862 v RRIg0 156 ] 7(_) 421, 1,018
fretal | . 139,315,489 57,689,631 | 197,005,120 |
Asat30%June2020 | Kshs | Kshs R
Student Fee arrears A 82,042,970 | s B 149,149,962 | 131,192,932
Trade & Other debtors XA ____6.},_1_59 Vi ) R R 20 TR 67,901,597
pdatalr o Vs | ol Yl 472287495 5] 370 780 | 199,094,529 |

(if) Liquidity risk management
The University’s liabilities subject to financial risk are categorized as Sundry Trade Payables,

Prepaid fees and Staff Glatmty Payable as shown in the table below:

5 Performing | Non-Performing Total
| (withinayear) | (Over one year) S 8
As at 30" June 2021 ' Kshs A0 e eshe S Kshs
Sundry Trade Payables 12,822,474 - 12,822 474
Staff Gratuity Payable 69,458,257 i, 69 458 257
‘ Prepdld TRoS it Ny 2 LSl 6{ 820871~ 4. - 4 ol TER e @_?’ 082 082
| Total 149 362, 812 - 149, 362 812
' As at 30 June 2020 Kshs Kshs g LAKsh sl ey
 Sundry Trade Payables | 19,101,384 | LR 19,101,384
Suaff Gratuity Payable 80,459,574 e e 80,459,574
Prepaid fees 42,738,199 - 42,738,199
Total 142,299,157 S -l 142,299,157 |
21
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Annaal Reports and Financial stavenents for the pear ended June 30, 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The University has disclosed KShs 149.4 million being amounts owed to Trade and other
payables as indicated above. However, the University has trade and other receivables amounting
to KShs 197 million which can offset the liabilities hence mitigate the liquidity risks.

(iif) Market risk
There has been no change to the University’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which

it manages and measures the risk.

(iv) Capital Risk Management
The objective of the university’s capital risk management is to safeguard the Board’s ability to

continue as a going concern. The university capital structure comprises of the following funds:

R i a1 e A i o RS, 1] 11474575 9 RS, 51 3 Voo 1o
' R v R RN T __KShs.
| Retained earnings T | @38246,376) " . (15,047,197) |

[ Capital reserve

] Defeued Il‘l(..q_l"t_le "

[ Total funds
J

| Total bouowmga
| Less: cash and bank balances

' | Net debt/ (excess cash and cash equivalents)

| Gearmg ratio
|

3,036,130,011

39,738957 |

| 2,942,622,592

167,295,116 |

©2,962,099,567 |
8,691,293 |
" 2,895,743,663

199 407, 68?'

The University does not have any long-term obligations hence the gearing ratio does not apply.

22
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Annual Reports and Financial starements for the year ended June 30, 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

5. (a) RECURRENT GRANTS (CAPITATION) 2019-2020

State Department for University Education
State Department for University Education
State Department for University Education
State Department for University Education
State Department for University Education
State Department for University Education
State Department for University Education
State Department for University Education
State Department for University Education
State Department for University Education
State Department for University Education
State Department for University Education

5.(b) RESEARCH GRANTS

Research Grants
Donor Grants

5. (¢) CBA GRANTS

State Department for University Education
State Department for University Education

TOTAL RECURRENT GRANTS 1,144,246,122,

5. (d) DEVELOPMENT GRANTS 20.11'99;2920
State Department for University Education 70,390,829
TOTAL DEVELOPMENT GRANTS 70,390,829

23

—~ :
@ 1SO 9001:2015 Certified .......ccooooeevnevinenennnnnSouring Heights in Transforming Industry and Economy




Muchakos University
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

6. GRANTS IN KIND 2020-2021 = 2019-2020
Kshs. Kshs.
Furniture & Equipment (24, 542, 200 x 12.5%) _ ke 3,067,775
Donated Loose Tools (403,832 x12.5%) i Pl e 50,479
Equipment from Seeding Labs (17,382,586*12.5%) 2,172,823 2,172,323

Luban Workshop - Equipment (13,978,782 x 12.5%)
Luban Workshop - Computers (31,467,844 x33.3%)

34

5,291,077

NOTE:
(a) Donated Assets in the year 2012/2013 comprised of;
1. Equipment from Netherlands KShs 24,542,200.00 - Fully Armotized
2. Loose Tools from Netherlands KShs 403,832.00 - Fully Armotized

(b) Donated Assets in the year 2016/2017 comprised of;
1. Equipment from Seeding Labs Ksh 17,382,586

(c) Donated Assets in the year 2020/2021 comprised of;

1. Equipment for Luban Workshop Kshs. 13,978,782
2. Computers for Luban Workshop Kshs. 31,467,344
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7. TUITION & OTHER RELATED INCOMES

VOTEHEAD

Activity fee

Admission fee

Alumni Income

Application fee

Attachment Fee

Boarding

Catering

Centre fees

Certification income
Computer Project fee
Examination fee

General damages

Graduation Fees

Industrial Attachment & Insurance
Integrated Computer Technology
KNEC Exams Fee '
Laboratory/Workshop fee
Library fee

Material development
Medical fee

Penalty fee

Quality Assurance fee

R.D Cheques Charges Income
Referral/ Supplementary
Registration fee

Re-Take Fee

Students Identity Cards
Students Insurance fee
Student projects

Supervision fees

Teaching Practice fee

Thesis Examination

Tuition fee

TOTAL
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Co uedl

8. .G.A AND OTHER INCOMES
VOTEHEAD

Le Technisch Restaurant
Production Unit -Food & Beverage
Production Unit - Agriculture
Production Unit - Physical Sciences
Production Unit - Corporate Affairs
Production Unit - FADMA
Production Unit - TVET

Auction

Seminar

Hire of facilities

Rent

Tender Fee

Management fee

Miscellaneous Income

TOTAL

9. EMPLOYMENT COSTS

Basic salaries

House allowance
Fension & Gratuity
NSSF

Leave Allowances
Commuter Allowances
Part-time lecturers
Adjunct Lecturers
Locum Staff

Casuals

Book & Research Allowances
Other allowances

CBA Arrears

TOTAL

10. COUNCIL EXPENSES
Sitting Allowances
Mileage Allowances
Subsistence Allowances
Honoraria and Telephone
Lunch Allowances
Others

2019-2020
95,445,367
72,190

2,200

3,590,51 3-
342,000

45:147
199,482
100,045,248

5.007.017
:68» 989 534
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Anmnal Reports and Financial starentents for the year ended June 38, 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
11. ACADEMIC EXPENSES

VOTEHEAD

Academic dress

Academic Research Expenses
Agricultural Farm Expenses
Alumni expense

Attachment expenses
Boarding/Accommodation expenses
Catering expenses

CUE expenses

Curriculum development expenses
Examinations expenses
Exhibitions & shows

External examinations expenses
Field courses expenses

Graduation Expenses

Industrial linkages

Innovation fund expenses
Insurance (Students) expenses
Internal Research expenses
KUCCPS expenses

Lab Apparatus and Consumables
Medical (Students) expenses
Regulatory bodies Expense

Senate & Senate Committees expenses
Sports & Games

Students Activities expenses
Students Bursary fund expense
Students Work Study expenses
Teaching Materials and Expenses
Teaching practice expenses

TOTAL
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

12. ADMINISTRATIVE AND OPERATIONS EXPENSES ;

2019-2020
VOTEHEAD Ksh
Advertisement expenses 1,650,556

Association of Government Council expenses

Audit fees

Automation expenses
Bank Charges
Chancellors Expenses
Change in Inventories
Cleaning & Sanitation

Conferences, Workshops and Seminars Expenses

960000
19! -8 '

1,145,269

Electricity Expense 6 764 _85_6'
External Travelling expenses BT957
Health care services 66,019,161
ICT Services & Internet 10,500,283
Legal expenses 370,940

Management Capacity Building
Management meetings expenses
Marketing & Publicity Expense
Newspapers & Magazines
Office Consumables

PC & ISO

Photocopying services

Professional fees 3 255,186
Froperty Insurance 2,630,197
Security Expenses 8,_589,92‘-‘9
Statf Development 1,744,334
Staff Uniforms 11,000
Staff welfare expenses 1,279,599
Stationery Expenses 9,952,872

Strategic Planning expenses
Subscriptions & Registration Fees
Telephone & Postage

Travelling & Accommodation expenses
University Committees Expenses

Vice chancellor Committees expenses
Water & Conservancy

TOTAL

@ ISO 9001:2015 Certified ......................cc.......
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

13. REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE EXPENSES

VOTEHEAD

Generator Fuel & maintenance
Grounds Maintenance

Motor vehicles fuel & Maintenance
Plant & Equipment Maintenance
Repairs and Maintenance

TOTAL

14. OTHER EXPENSES

VOTEHEAD

Le Technisch Restaurant Expenses
Corporate social responsibility
Endowment fund

Production unit expenses

TOTAL

1SO 9001:2015 Certified ................................Soaring Heights in Transforming Industry and Economy
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Muchakos University
Annual Reports aind Financial stutenents for the pear ended June 30, 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(a)
Exchange Transactions

Student Debtors
Trade Debtors
Other Debtors

Provision for Doubtful debts (50% 52,397,474.5) &
(50%"5,292,156)

(b)
Non-Exchange Transactions

Outstanding Imprests
CBA Grants Receivable
Staff welfare Advance

Total

17. INVENTORIES

Kitchen store inventory
Central Stores inventory
Academic gowns inventory
Le-Technisch inventory

Total

31
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Muchakos University
Ananal Reports and Finoucial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

18. CASH & BANK BALANCES

2020-2021 = 2019-2020
Kshs.
Cash in hand 127,289
Mpesa 6,622,921
Cash and M-Pesa
Bank Account No.
Standard Chartered:
Standard Chartered Bank 0102016845602 60,613,735
Standard Chartered Bank 0152016845602 24,202,257
84,815,991
National Bank:
National Bank of Kenya 01020078499400 11,811,387
National Bank of Kenya 01020078499401 24,542,031
National Bank of Kenya 01020078499402 49,140,983
85,494,401
Kenya Commercial Bank:
Kenya Commercial Bank 1137145064 8,068,952
Kenya Commercial Bank 1180326849 7,002,288
Kenya Commercial Bank 1211488594 1,279,438
Kenya Commercial Bank 1211489167 542,830
16,893,508
Cooperative Bank of Kenya:
Co-operative Bank of Kenya 01129277651100 3,507,057
Equity Bank:
Equity Bank: 0600278674858 1,946,514
TOTAL 199,407,682

Note: The University has an account with ABSA Bank which runs the affairs of student
association. Student association membership and subscription fees are transferred from the
University collection accounts to the ABSA Bank account. :
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

19. CAPITAL RESERVE

Opening balance as at 30 June
Development Grants for the year: (Note 5 (d))
Revaluation of Non-Current Assets (Note 15)
Closing balance as at 30th June

9,567

20. (a) REVENUE RESERVE

Qpening balance as at 30t June
Prior year Adjustments
Surplus/Deficit for the year

Closing balance as at 30th June

Note:
Prior year Adjustments relates to fees adjustments and customer invoices adjustments and

reversals

20. (b) DEFERRED INCOME
2019-2020

Equipment from Netherlands Bal b/f 3,118,254
Equipment from Seeding Labs Bal b/f 10,864,117
Luban Workshop - Equipment -
Luban Workshop - Computers R Y

13,982,371
Amortization for the year (24,946,032 @12.5%) (3,118,254)
Amortization for the year (17,382,586 @12.5%) (2,172,823)
Amortization for the year (13,978,782 @12.5%) © -
Amortization for the year (31,467,844 @ 33.3%) | -
Closing balance as at 30t June 8,691,294

NOTE:

a) Donated Assets in the year 2012/2013 comprised of;
1. Equipment from Netherlands KShs 24,542,200.00 — Fully Armotized
2. Loose Tools from Netherlands KShs 403,832.00 — Fully Armotized
(b) Donated Assets in the year 2016/2017 comprised of;
1. Equipment from Seeding Labs Ksh 17,382,586
(c) Donated Assets in the year 2020/2021 comprised of;
1. Equipment for Luban Workshop Kshs. 13,978,782
2. Computers for Luban Workshop Kshs. 31,467,844

33
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

21. TRADE & OTHER PAYABLES 2020*2021 2019-2020
- Kshs.
Trade payables
Recurrent Trade Payables 19,101,384
Audit fees 1,920,000
Customer & Other Prepayments 6,171,267
Chancellors Scholarship fund 1 279 438
Chancellors Endowment fund 542 830
_ 29,014,919
Capital Creditors i idial
Retention 37,510,526 34,747,179
Other capital creditors il - 35,780,586
37,610,526 70,527,765
Students payables b el
Students Prepaid fees 69,458,257 42,738,199
Refundable Caution fees 44 64.-8 770{. 39,518,770
SAMU Membership & Subscription 0 d 219,446
Students Sponsorships Fund i 6,652,296
89,128,711
Payroll payables
Leave Allowance Payable 2,522,778
Staff deductions payable 1,886,886
Part Time Claims owing 5,303,600
Staff Gratuity Payable 80,459,674
CBA Arrears payable 96,306,002
186,478,839
Total Trade and other payables 375,150,234
22. CASH RECEIPTS
2019-2020
22. (a) Non-Exchange transactions Ksh
Revenue from non-exchange transactions 1,144,246,122
Change in Receivables from non- e
exchange 96,28 5 (93,645,316)
I 032 OSZAﬁG- 1,050,600,806
22. (b) Exchange transactions Ksh
Revenue from exchange transactions 424,968,686
Change in Trade and other Receivables (2,280,944)
Change in Student payables 3,162,933
Prior year Adjustments (3, 1 18 997)
422 731 ,679

TOTAL RECEIPTS
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Anngal Reports and Financial statenients for the year ended June 30, 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

23. CASH PAYMENTS

23. (a) Employment costs
Employment Costs

Change in Payroll payables

2.3. (b) Council expenses
Council Expenses

23. (c) Academic, Administrative and
other expenses

Academic Expenses

Administration & Operations Expenses
Repairs & Maintenance Expenses
Other Expenses

Change in Inventories

Change in Trade payables

TOTAL PAYMENTS

24. CAPITAL CASH PAYMENTS

Furchase of Property, Plant & Equipment
Change in capital creditors :
Net cash flows used in investing activities |

25. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2019-2020
Surplus /Deficit for the year 94,504,129
Adjusted for: AR
Depreciation 77,929,558
Non-cash grants received (5,291,077)
Working Capital adjustments =)

Change in inventory
Change in receivables
Prior Year Adjustments
Change in Payables : _
Net Cashflow from operating activities =
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Muachakas University
Annual Reports and Finaircial statements for the year ended June 30, 2027

APPENDIX I: CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Contingent Assets

The University has incurred the following pending bills relating to Construction of Tuition and

Office block that were paid using internally generated funds.

Sources of Funds 2020/2021 2019/2020 Total
Government of 9,525,000 22,899,585 32,424,585
Kenya

The pending bills shall be treated as the first charge once development grants for the FY
2021/2022 are received.

Contingent Liabilities

The University anticipates to incur an expenditure for the part time lecturers that have been
engaged and have not yet raised their part-time claims because they are yet to meet the
conditions for the engagement i.e. submitting marks for the students. The outstanding amounts

could not be ascertained as at 30 June 2021.
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Machakos University

Aniital Reports and Financial statements for the year ended June 31, 2021

APPENDIX II: PROGRESS ON FOLLOW UP OF AUDITOR RECOMMENDATIONS
The following is the summary of issue raised by the external auditor, and management comments

that were provided to the auditor. We have nominated focal persons to resolve the various issues

as shown below with the associated time frame within which we expect the issues to be resolved.

Reference no. on | Issue/Observations Management comments Status: Time frame:
the external from auditor (Resolved (put a date
audit report /Not when you
Resolved) expect the issue
o be resolved)

N/A Other Matter- Management to explore more | In Progress | In the next 6 to
(2016/2017) Increased deficit hence | opportunities to increases 7 years.

reduced Revenue revenue and control

reserves. expenditure.
1. (2018/2019)
2.(2018/2019)
3. (2019/2020)

Xenuje=
Chairman of Council
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IS0 9001:2015 Certified

Soaring Heights in Transforming Industry and Econony




Muchakes University
Annunal Repoves and Financiol statements for the year ended June 30, 2021

APPENDIX III: PROJECTS IMPLEMENTED BY THE UNIVERSITY
Projects
Projects implemented by the University funded by Development partners.

|S/n [Project | Domor [Period/  |Donor | Separate donor ' Consolidated in

0 Number | - duration | commitm | reporting required as | these financial

| | | ent | per the donor | statements

. ; l | | agreement (Yes/No) | (Yes/No)

e D s Rl T RS R : B boa STugoac.

Status of Projects completion

| Project | Totalproject |  Total | Completion% | Budget |  Actual | Sources

e Cost | expendedto | todate | (2020/2021) | 2020/2021 | of

| | date I . funds
1. | Tuition and | , f ,. , i

|| Office Block | 986,761,116 | 428,907,051 68 | 74,030,444 | 83,555,444 | G.O.K

{ 2. | Developmen i ;’

| | tof Sports SO S . i

| and Games N/A | 1,723,600.00 | Zo°U" 2 500,000 | oAl A

j facility | n complete i !
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Machakos University

Annual Reports and Financial stetemnenis for the peried ended June 30, 2021

APPENDIX IV: INTER- ENTITY TRANSFERS

| NAME: | MACHAKOS UNIVERSITY _ ]
sz Break down of Transfers from the State Department for Umversﬁy Educatlon L al
wzozo,fzom R R T 2z !
a. | Recurrent Grants [Bank Statement Date Amount (KShs) | The FY fo which the |
L Y _ 1 ) . amounts relate —
% iy 7th August 2020 o 80 5_21 744_) N ?0__2_0/9021 LT
L iy |31 August2020 | 80,521,744 |  2020/2021 |
¥ % WA | I#October 2020 | 80,521,744 |  2020/2021
N taorh October 2020 _80521,744 | _ 2020/202T
L S 2 R 7% December 2020 | 80,521 ?44+ _2020/2021
e ] i ' 4“‘Jaﬂua13129:?_1___ =) e ___8_9&2_1 w44 | 2020/2021 |
R R | 4 February 2021 80,521,744 | 2020/2021
R T A | 10t March 2021 T 80520 744: ~ 2020/2021
i e L LY ,9“‘ April 2021 [itee 5__1_21 (44 | 2020/2021
. e AR |10 May 2021 | 80,521,744 202002021 %
LR M) L _ | 16MJune 2021 54.23'521744r 202002021, 1,
;. I | 25" June 2021 . 3_093_1 _75g$__' 2020/2021 |
T L - ; &
FC S SANG ) el e X TOTAL Lol 2906,460:9800 - . o T p TR
R R A B e AT I\ N im0 A s T T
el Mg L CU ke _B’“_‘_l_c_smme’,'tiit? Amm_”_“*afl.'_"i.é. _amounts relate
| | |
R R NN Sy T i MRV T T A TS Y
[Tl gpired - SRR S > e Oy R BT Se a8 A TR S T
|
e 3. A S TN e Rt Rl Y P
j C; } Development Grants Bank Statemﬂnt Datc Amount (KShs) m:.mfgéit? gf;;he
Ll |14%September2020 |  74,030444|  2020/2021
Ld. | it - O 5 R her 2 £ 2R 1L BN B RS L Al e 2 ol ta o AN
I
G ; TOTAL 74, 030 444 |

! ! . L), SN

The Above amounts have been communicated to and reconciled with the parent Ministry

-
T

fu
[

CEL ileen Nyatuga
Chief Finance Officer
Machakos University

IcPAKNo: $2.%3.............

ISO.9001:2015 Cefified ... ... ioresis ivrioss

Mr. Robert Asumani

Assistant Accountant General

State Department of University Education &
Research
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